



Master's Thesis 2018 30 ECTS

Faculty of Landscape and Sociey Supervisor: Kirsti Stuvøy

Pork and Beans? The Sino-Brazilian soybean-meat complex and the implications for Brazil and China

Mayeline De Los Santos-Vollan

MSc International Relations Noragric The Department of International Environment and Development Studies, Noragric, is the international gateway for the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU). Established in 1986, Noragric's contribution to international development lies in the interface between research, education (Bachelor, Master and PhD programmes) and assignments.

The Noragric Master's theses are the final theses submitted by students in order to fulfil the requirements under the Noragric Master's programmes 'International Environmental Studies', 'International Development Studies' and 'International Relations'.

The findings in this thesis do not necessarily reflect the views of Noragric. Extracts from this publication may only be reproduced after prior consultation with the author and on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation contact Noragric.

© Mayeline De Los Santos-Vollan, May 2019 mayelinedelossantos@gmail.com

Noragric
Department of International Environment and Development Studies
The Faculty of Landscape and Society
P.O. Box 5003
N-1432 Ås
Norway

Tel.: +47 67 23 00 00

Internet: https://www.nmbu.no/fakultet/landsam/institutt/noragric

Declaration

I, (name), declare that this thesis is a result of my research investigations and findings. Sources of
information other than my own have been acknowledged and a reference list has been appended.
This work has not been previously submitted to any other university for award of any type of
academic degree.

Signature	
Date	_

Acknowledgments

Writing this thesis has been a true challenge, but equally rewarding. The final product would not have been possible without the guidance of my advisor Kirsti Stuvøy. Thank you for your time, your insights, understanding and patience. I am truly grateful for support and encouragement.

I would like to thank my family, Sophia and Isabella De Los Santos Vollan, and Martin Vollan. You are my reasons for being, thank you for putting up with your busy mom wife.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to the memory my father, Julio César De Los Santos Roa, who is not with me today, yet remains as the voice in my head inspiring me to do better every day. Esta te la dedico a tí papá. I would also like to thank my incredible mother and my siblings for being my support system. Thank you for believing in me and supporting me even in the distance. And last but not least, I would like to thank Anne Marie and Per Vollan, for your understanding, support, and help.

I sincerely grateful for each and everyone of you,

Abstract

This thesis addresses the integration of the Brazilian soybean sector and the Chinese pork sector into a cross-border soybean-meat complex. The relationship of Brazil and China is defined by the integration of the Brazilian soybean sector and the Chinese pork sector. China's demand for soybean stems from rapid urbanization along with dietary transitions that have increased pork production. China produces pork on industrial levels, and its demand for imported soy to feed the pigs has increased exponentially. Brazil has been able to meet the soybean demands, leading to the integration of the Chinese pork sector and the Brazilian soybean sector into an interdependent relationship. The Sino-Brazilian relationship is studied through complex interdependence which highlights the emergence of transnational actors, the rise of international regimes and institutions and studies how these actors are responsible for changes in the relationships between states, by making them more complex. The Sino-Brazilian relationship has developed asymmetrically drawing attention to power distribution within the relationship and who holds what power. The concept of complex interdependence is used to assess the characteristics of the relationship.

The production and consumption centers in Brazil and China draw attention to the participation of transnational corporations influencing the soybean global trade. Traditional dominance of the soybean international trade in the hands of US-based transnational corporations in decreasing, highlighting the emergence of new actors contributing to the restructuring of the soybean industry. New sources of power emerging from Latin American and East Asia come to challenge the dominance of the US-based transnational corporations. In order to understand the interdependence of Brazil and China, as well as the changing landscape of the soybean, Brazil, China, and the transnational corporations involved need to be examined in detail. Ultimately this research finds that the emergence of new actors has effectively changed the landscape of the soybean industry through restructuring of power distributions and redirecting trade flows. Yet, the involvement of transnational corporations is unlikely to change. The reasons are the essential financial support to Brazilian soybean production, the high degree of control over technology and distribution channels, and the ongoing Sino-Brazilian interdependence.

List of Acronyms

AoA -Agreement on Agriculture -The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

ABCD's -Archer Daniels Midland, Bunge, Cargill, Louis-Dreyfus

FAO -Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

FAOSTATS -Food and Agricultural Data

FDI -Foreign Direct Investment

GATT -General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

GDP -Gross domestic product

IMF - International Monetary Fund

IPE - International Political Economy

GNP - Gross National Product

PRC -People's Republic of China

NTB -Non-Tariff Barriers

TNC -Transnational Corporations

UN - The United Nations

WTO -World Trade Organization

Table of Contents

1. I	Introduction	5
1.1	Thesis outline	7
2. Bac	ckground	9
	The international trade of agricultural products	
2.2	2 The development of the Sino-Brazilian relationship	12
2 2 2	2.2.1 China's re-emergence into the world economy	14 17 18
3. The	eoretical framework	20
	The interdependence of the soybean complex	
3.2	2 Asymmetrical interdependence as a source of power	25
3.3	Regimes and Interdependent Relationships	28
	Theory of Dependence	
4. Res	search Methodology	35
4.1	The Discipled Interpretative case study approach	35
4.2	2 Research design	36
4.3	Reliability	38
5. Ana	alysis	39
5.1	The role of transnational corporations in the soybean industry	40
5.2	2 The development of South-South trade flows	45
6. Con	nclusion	52
6.1	Reference List	55

1. Introduction

The development of the Sino-Brazilian relationship is characterized by a growing Chinese demand for soybean. State-led processes of agricultural industrialization in Brazil and China have significantly expanded the reaches of the soybean. Current Chinese development strategies are geared toward the securement of agricultural commodities, and soybean in particular, in the Latin American region as Brazil is the main soy producer. The reason for the increased Chinese demand for soybean is the exponential growth of pork consumption in China over the past four decades (Peine,2013:193). This has transformed pork production into an industrial pork production model. As meat production intensifies, so does the increasing demand for imported soy to feed the animals. Brazil has largely met this demand for soybean from China. As a result, the Chinese pork sector and the Brazilian soybean sector have become integrated into a 'soybean-meat complex'. This complex is the object of study in this thesis.

In terms of production volume, international trade, and land use, soybeans are among the most important crops produced today. In the past 60 years global soybean production has increased by almost 1000 percent, while the land being cultivated by soy has more than quadrupled (faostat, 2014). The flexibility of this crop accentuates its diverse industrial uses, including protein and oils that can be repurposed as petroleum replacement, livestock feed, and vegetable oil. However, in context of the 'meatification' of Asian diets, more grains, in particular soy is fed to livestock instead of humans (Peine, 2013:194). Thus, this move in China towards industrial pork production and its reliance on imports from Brazil accentuates the pressure on global grain reserves. It also raises questions about nutrition and the environmental sustainability of the soybean-meat complex.

The global soybean-meat complex has been dominated by four United States-based transnational corporations -ADM, Bunge, Cargill, and Louis Dreyfus; better known as the ABCD's (Oliveira et al.,2016:170). These companies have been responsible for the global expansion of the soybean industry since the 1990's post-Cold War period, until the current restructuring of the soybean global trade. These companies have been able to maintain a dominant position within global soybean industry by exploiting the relative competitiveness of US and Brazilian producers, while strategically investing in the Chinese processing industry in order to create a more profitable supply chain (Peine, 2013:195). Their involvement, in turn, is encased in policy frameworks and

market conditions that seem to favor these companies further. Being able to adapt to rapidly changing economic and political landscapes, allows these companies to influence the global economy, as well as the market economy of states. Their power and influence is further reflected within institutions.

The control held by these companies is challenged by new agribusiness actors, as well as power relations anchored in South America and East Asia. The rise of Brazil and China, in the global economy is indicative of their economic growth. China's rise is related to its economic growth, while Brazil's rise is tied to alliance-building strategies that has enhanced its power within institutions. These power relations are illustrating the reconfiguration of trade flows, and the shifting power structures reshaping the global soy industry. Which in turn, highlights the structure of the soybean industry and the extent of control the ABCD's have down the supply chain. As the world's largest exporter and consumer of soy respectively, Brazil and China exemplify how the role of transnational corporations influence the soybean industry markets. Following the soybean-meat complex in the relationship between Brazil and China, this thesis focuses on South-South trade flows. Brazil has become crucial for China to ensure its soybean demand on the global market. As China's dietary needs continue to transition to more meatbased nutrition diets -notably increased pig-consumption, the level of dependency on Brazilian soy increases. As a result, the relationship between China and Brazil has developed asymmetrically. Less dependent states will try to use asymmetrical interdependence in particular issues as a source of power. Focusing on the terms and conditions under which these actors are willing to enter an interdependent relationship, illustrates the distribution of power in each situation highlighting an actors' ability to influence situations or outcomes. Studying this asymmetry is the purpose of this thesis.

This research uses the concept of complex interdependence to analyze the integration of the Brazilian soybean sector and the Chinese pork sector. Complex interdependence, coined by Robert O. Keohane and Joseph S. Nye (1977), highlights the emergence of transnational actors, the rise of international regimes and institutions and studies how these actors are responsible for changes in the relationships between states, making their relationship more complex. As the relations in the soybean-meat complex of Brazil and China intensifies, this analytical approach to

complex interdependence draws attention to sources of asymmetry, regarding how power is distributed and who holds what power in the relationship.

Under conditions of complex interdependence, less dependent actors will try to use asymmetrical interdependence in particular issues as a source of power (Keohane and Nye, 2012:26). These interactions give rise to distinctive political processes where power over resources is translated into power over outcomes. The transnational corporations seem to have become embedded in institutions, enabling their influence over political processes, where competing and unequal states regard rules and norms as sources of power.

Complex interdependence portrays states as operating under the assumption that political agendas will be set by shifts in the balance of power and perceived threats to their security (Keohane and Nye, 2012: 10). Possibilities of new cooperation and integration may indicate that political agendas of the actors involved in this complex interdependence are driven largely by a new perception of security, primarily in economic terms. The emergence of new powers within the international soy trade serve to outline the contours of a new trade regime affecting how trade is conducted. This thesis emphasizes the interactions between the actors Brazil, China, the ABCD's, and the power dynamic parting from the 1990's post-Cold War period, that have resulted in their interdependent relationship.

This thesis aims to analyze the interdependence intensification of China's soy demands and Brazil's increasing soy production, illustrates the changing political and economic structures of the international food trade system. This thesis ultimately finds that as long as policy and production systems drive and mutually reinforce one another, the level of competition in the soybean industry is unlikely to improve.

1.1 Thesis outline

The research question of this thesis is:

What characterizes the complex interdependence that has evolved in the soybean-meat complex?

The thesis is composed of 6 chapters. Chapter 2 presents the different actors taking part in the soybean-meat complex. The first section of the chapter defines international trade in relation to food, specifically the beginnings of agricultural trade and as well as the transition of the food security concept. This is followed by a historical significance of soybeans for China as a stable

food item and is links to the soybean demand. This is followed by the Chinese economic expansion and reforms. And the development of the Sino-Brazilian strategic partnership. The chapter's intent is to demonstrate how China's economic reform and expansion led to its increasing demand for soybean, consequently integrating Brazil into the relationship. The chapter shows the need to explore further the effects China has had on Brazil, highlighting the opportunities and challenges of the relationship.

In chapter 3 introduce the theory of complex interdependence. I explain that complex interdependence highlights the emergence of transnational actors and the rise of international regimes and institutions responsible for the changes in the relationships between states, making their relationship more complex. This complexity directs attention to issues of asymmetry and who holds power in the relationship. I also present the theory of Dependence in order to show how economic interdependence is analyzed and understood by other economic theories. The chapter also discusses the extractivist economic model, as a way to showcase the Latin American scholars understandings' of the Chinese effects on the region. The chapter demonstrates that through complex independence, economic relationships- specifically uneven relationships, revolve around power. This power sources in turn shape how actors use bargaining techniques in order to maximize gains and predict outcomes in the relationship.

Chapter 4 entails the research method employed for this research. The chapter discusses the case study approach within international political economy (IPE). The primary objective of case studies in IPE is to develop and critique different theories that cover most subjects studied by a political economist. The case study strategy chosen for this thesis is the disciplined interpretative case study, because it is used to interpret or explain events by applying a known theory to new situations.

Chapter 5 presents the analysis and findings of the soybean-meat complex. This research set out to analyze the Sino-Brazilian soybean-meat complex. To do so, the concept of complex interdependence was introduced. This chapter is divided in two subsections. The first section discusses the links between institutions and transnational corporations and how they have been able to influence political processes within the international trade regime. The second section addresses the geographic displacement of soybean production from global North to global South and the implications for the Sino-Brazilian complex interdependence. The manipulation of power

resources is analyzed in terms of asymmetries, serving to illustrate how the dominant actor uses those available resources to maximize gains in the relationship. The second section details the product of the Sino-Brazilian complex interdependence: the consolidation of the soybean-meat commodity complex. The role of transnational corporations is discussed in relation to how these are able use their power to influence policy outcomes in regard to outcomes.

In chapter six the thesis concludes with the ways in which Brazil and China -strengthened throw the soy interdependence, are able to affect policy and decision-making processes within institutions. Though this research is not meant to predict outcomes in the future actions of the actors involved in the soy trade, the final assessment indicates that the soybean complex comes attached to implications for rising powers. China and Brazil, along with other rising powers are forming a type of 'counter hegemonic' cooperation strategy that seems to challenge the United States. Ultimately, this thesis finds that as long as policy and production systems continue to drive and mutually reinforce one another, the level of competition in the soybean industry is unlikely to improve. This will continue to affect the way international trade of food is conducted as transnational corporations become deeply embedded within the institutions in charge of international trade.

2. Background

Three trends are particularly relevant to the emergence of soybean in global trade. First is the massive expansion of the cultivation, processing, and consumption on a global scale. Second, is the great expansion for uses and markets for soy and soy byproducts -such as livestock feed, fuel, and other industrial uses. And third, is a global shift in the geography of the soy industry away from traditional importers in the global North, to the current trend in the global South. North Atlantic domination up until the 1990's has been replaced by South American and East Asian actors who are gaining control and power (Oliveira et al.,2016:169). Between the first two trends there is a link, where the drive to increase soy cultivation is also driving the development of multiple industrial uses that generate new markets for the actors involved in the soy complex. As the worlds' largest producer and consumer of soy -respectively, Brazil and China exemplify a

new trend within global food markets, and the interactions of transnational corporations in turn, seem to outline the conditions under which a new food regime is emerging.

2.1 The international trade of agricultural products

Most people have a very vague idea of the origins and travels of their food through the industrial food system and the power relations associated with it along the way. International trade in food and agricultural products has been around for centuries. From the Corn Laws in nineteenth century Britain, to more recent political dilemmas over agriculture in the World Trade Organization (WTO). Simply put, the term trade refers to the exchange of one commodity for another. Trade as an activity has been present in all civilizations and is defined domestically as two or more individuals exchanging goods and services, while internationally the exchange occurs across national borders (O'Brien, 2016:103).

The General Agreement for Tariffs and Trade (GATT) was created in 1947 and consisted of a free trade agreement between countries with the intention to dismantle or eliminate trade barriers and increase free trade. From 1948 to 1994 the GATT provided the rules for global trade of goods. Though it lasted 47 years, it was meant to be a provisional agreement. The WTO was created in 1995, as a product of the biggest reform on international trade since the end of the Second World War (wto.org). The reform was needed in order to include not only trade in goods but also trade in services and intellectual property.

The emergence of global food markets in the 1950's powered by the economic expansion of industrialized countries -namely the United States (US), led to the adoption of the industrial agricultural model and the development of the international market for foodstuff (Clapp,2016:8). The establishment of new global rules for liberalization of international agricultural trade were the main result of agricultural trade, along with the rise of transnational corporations, deemed as dominant actors within global food production. In earlier years of the GATT, food and agriculture where treated as exceptional cases. This food 'exceptionalism' meant food was excluded from the wider norms and rules of trade liberalization. The reason was an assumption that agricultural markets were susceptible to failure and therefore would not provide public goods such as food; directly placing food security within the role of national security (*ibid*). In this context, many governments understood it as part of their legitimate role to address those

market failures. The US promoted their own political gains by regarding food as exceptional, as it enabled the continuation of a complex system of agricultural and trade restrictions. It was also accepted by other countries who followed suit.

The great range of vital functions the agricultural sector covers reflects how essential it is to all countries. Agricultural exports represent a source of significant revenue for industrialized states. In other states -those which do not have an adequate agricultural base, agricultural exports equate to the capability to support their population, as they are crucial for food security objectives (Clapp, 2016:8). As global trade of agricultural products increased, countries become more involved with either exportation or importation of agricultural products. Where the processing, trade, and distribution of agricultural commodities has transformed farmlands into highly profitable products for financial investors (*ibid*). But the way in which countries participate in international trade is very different, as it varies across states.

2.1.1 The evolution of the Food Security concept

The term food security was coined in the 1974 during the World Food Summit in response to the 1973-1974 global food crisis, fueled by increasing grain prices. Due to political concerns over the Cold War and its connection to hunger and political stability in developing countries, the term was used in reference to food supply at the international level (Clapp, 2016:4). During the 1980's and 1990's understandings of food security evolved gradually as the Cold War tensions eased and global market integration increased. These new understandings of food were then linked to individual security and accessibility to food rather than availability in societies. The reason was that enough available food in a society did not guarantee that everyone would be hunger free. Poverty and an individual's position in society were determinant factors to gaining access to food (ibid). During the 1996 World Food Summit, food security was once again defined to include nutritional and cultural dimensions. Its redefinition remains as the most accepted to date: "food security exists when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life" (FAO,2001). However, this definition masks the profound changes in the discourse and practices of food security over the past half of a century. For example, within the US national development was the dominant discourse and practice post-Cold War. International food flows reflecting a geographical order where the US was the world hegemon and largest food producer. In order to find new markets for grains, the US used food

aid as means to distribute surplus grains but also as a calculated strategy to expand power (Zhan, 2017:153). Against this backdrop, the term food security was legitimized by the need to eradicate hunger, but it also ended up serving the interest of the agricultural business industry (agrobusiness) in the US. The structures of food security and the international trade have evolved over time as experiences, information, interests, and institutional frameworks have also changed accordingly. Initially the focus on food supply was at a national level, but the concept of food security expanded to include individual and global conceptualizations that integrate levels beyond the scopes of food (*ibid*). The interconnection point to the relationship going well beyond economic considerations, as it includes political, social, and ecological dimensions.

Food being predominantly treated as any other commodity, increased after the creation of the GATT. Today, food in the world economy influences the development of the current state of the food system. The international trade of food is nothing new, but the role of trade in meeting food security objectives is still highly debated. Measurements to analyze the interactions between food security and international trade aim to find common ground regarding their proper roles within the world economy. As global trade in food products continues its rapid expansion, the structure and pattern of trade may differ significantly by commodity and region (FAO,216).

2.2 The development of the Sino-Brazilian relationship

2.21 The meatification of China

The meatification of Asian diets, has significant global meaning as one of primary reasons for the growing global food demand (Clapp, 2016:6; Peine, 2013:198). Since meat production in the livestock industrial model is more caloric intensive than the production of cereals, the more profitable livestock industry is predicted to compete with the grain industry for farmland. Resulting in less crops for human consumption -food feed, and more livestock crops planted instead -crop feeds. (Peine, 2013:198).

The integration of the Chinese pork sector, and the Brazilian soybean sector birthing the development soybean-meat complex, led these two countries down different paths tracing back

to the same interests. Historical uses of soy vary across countries, because their trajectories are different in relation to different social, environmental, political, and economic conditions (Oliviera et al., 2016:175). Though the soy trajectories of both Brazil and China are related, they developed in significantly opposite directions. The main reason is the multiple uses for soy from food to feed, fuel and industrial uses.

In China, soy has transitioned from historic roots as a domestic crop with a large history of multiple uses including farming and food. Today is featured as one of the country's' most important crops. It is traded mainly in service of the livestock sector where oil seed is its main derivate, having a sub-market (Oliviera et al.,2016:176). The multiple uses of soy are possible through different varieties that relate to different regions and cultivation purposes.

The Chinese pre-reform history of soy is explained through soy's versatility and multipleness as a protein rich food for human consumption that has been an ancient staple item in the Chinese diet for the past seven centuries. The many uses of soybeans before the 1990's reflect it dietary relevance for China. The Chinese diet in its vast majority was plant-based which included domestically produced soy as a protein source, that was then further processed to make it edible (Oliveira et al.,2016:175). Soybean food products include tofu -known as the most typical human food, and other derivates such as: milk, flour, buns, and fermented soy, which is further processed into sauce. All the characteristics and similarities in products may vary depending on the region of origin, creating even more diversity. Today, China is the largest consumer of soy in the world and is being consumed in higher quantities than at any other time in history(*ibid*). The distinctive characteristics of today's consumption pattern is that while tofu and soy sauce remain a common part of the Chinese diet, people consume soy in the form of pork, which are fed with imported soybeans, and cooked in soybean oil.

Differing from China's trajectory, the Brazilian soy cultivation developed as a non-food crop, that was later integrated into the vegetable oil industry, and a sub-market of the livestock feed industry (Oliveira et al.,2016:176). Today, soybeans are positioned as a solid industrial stable of the vegetable oil and livestock feed markets. Soybean processing companies incentivized its uses for human consumption, as a food processing additive, and as biodiesel. However, the increased flexibility of crops for oilseed processors and grain traders in Brazil, has reduced the flexibility of production alternatives among the Brazilian grain and oilseed farmers.

Contrasting with the Chinese centenary legacy of soy, the crop's history in Brazil has experimental roots. Brazilians did not consume soy, and without any dietary habits -albeit Asian immigrants, the commercial expansion of soybeans in Brazil began as complement for wheat and other grains (Oliveira, 2016:360). Once the soybean production increase during the 1990's, the soybean crushing industry broaden its uses and markets for soybean products, featuring biodiesel and food additives as the main products.

Soy became an established input within the vegetable oil industry alongside the livestock feed development. After 1995, price support mechanisms and export taxes on unprocessed soy were removed, thus facilitating exportation and reducing profit margins for crushing operations (Oliveira, 2016:360). As a result, pork companies were deprived of soybean crushing, and companies controlling large volumes and thin profit margins, took control of soybean trade. By the 2000's the Brazilian soy market was saturated by the pressure of overproduction. Consequently, soybean production and processing sectors began to look for alternative markets for their products.

In 1996, China stopped being a soybean net exporter to become a net importer. In the years that followed, factors such as the agrarian expansion and subsequent industrialization of the agrarian sector, the Chinese ascension to the WTO, their commitment to the self-sufficiency policy, and rapidly changing soybean market, situated China as the largest importer of soybeans by 2005 (Peine, 2013:197). Between 1990 and 2010, the share of revenue from Brazilian international soybean trade, coming from China increased from 4 to 50 percent. Within the soybean sector, Brazil has become equally dependent on the Chinese market, as China becomes dependent on Brazilian exports.

2.2.1 China's re-emergence into the world economy

China's increased dependence on soybeans, is rooted in their reform period that restructured their economy. The year 1978 marked China's entry into an economic reform period that would transform its economy, turning into the capitalist economy. The reform was defined as a market-oriented reform working toward a 'socialist market economy with Chinese characteristics' (Huang, 1999:27). The beginning of reforms were moderate and therefore restricted accesses to international economy interaction. Thus, China's reintegration in the global economy was a slow

affair in its initial stages. The reform started in the agricultural sector with the agrarian reforms that targeted grain production since China had fallen under scrutiny over its food security capabilities.

A report by Dr. Lester Brown released in 1994 brought into question China's ability to feed its population in the future (Zhang, 2017:151). The Chinese government was eager to show their ability to produce sufficient food. A white paper was released in 1996 by the State Council of China, declaring that China would produce 95 percent of consumed grains (State Council of China, 1996). Among the specific goals of the white paper was to increase grain production, as the base of the self-sufficient policy strategy. In China, food security is understood as 'grain security' or *liangshi anquan*, because the term 'grain' is broadly defined to include cereals -like rice, wheat, and coarse grains, but also soybeans (Zhang, 2017:151). Grains are vital to the food security in China as they provide one of the main sources of human food. Grains also contribute to the production of animal feedstuff and raw materials for processed food products.

China's grain production fell behind increasing demand during the late 1980's through mid-1990's. As a result, its grain self-sufficiency rate fell below 90 percent and it was expected to drop further. To meet the grain shortage demand, the government opted for grain imports from the global market. China had been involved in a decades long process of negotiations to join the international trade regime. The imminent ascension came to a close in 2001 when China joined the WTO, becoming part of the neoliberal food regime that has dominated the world economy over the last forty years, which prioritizes free trade and the market supply of food (Friedmann and McMichael 1989; Huang et al. 1999; Clapp 2016). This gave priority to food security issues while also creating a window of opportunity for agricultural business to flourish. China had been absent from this narrative -even though it is one of the largest global food producers and consumers, by relying on non-capitalist food provision until the ascension (Zhan, 2017:153). The integration into the world capitalist economy, brought participation in crop growing, and processing and marketing of food. It 'opened up' China to both domestic and foreign investments, thus pulling it into the current global capitalist food system (Friedmann and McMichael 1989; Huang et al. 1999).

As the Chinese entry to the WTO came to a close in 2001, there were domestic and global expectations to meet. With trade there can be a rise in efficiency, new technology, and an

increase in the national economic growth (Lardy, 2001:10). On the other hand, trade, marketing, and investment liberalization were expected to accentuate negative trends in rural China in shortterm goals (Huang et al., 2002:1). The mere size of China's economy and the rapid growth it experienced turned it into a crucial player in the future development of global markets for food and agricultural products. The impacts of the WTO ascension were complex, and in order to contrast costs and benefits with accuracy, different sectors of the Chinese economy were examined (Lardy, 2001:10; Huang et al. 2002:3). However, most concerns concentrated around the impact on China's domestic agricultural production, price and market, employment, and farmer's income within short term goals (Huang et al. 1999:19). These concerns derived from the need to sustain agricultural growth, achieve food security goals and, whether farmers' incomes would increase with the process of trade liberalization. Studies at the time indicated that China's economy, and the rest of the world would benefit from the ascension (Anderson, 1997; Huang et al.,1999; Huang et al., 2002). The assessment was based on the fact that the Chinese reform process before WTO insertion showed that China's foreign trade regime had gradually evolved from a highly centralized, structured and import substitution regime to a de-centralized, more market-oriented and export promoting regime (Huang et al., 1999:18). It was indicated at the time that even though China had made significant progress with its economic reform and trade liberalization, it continued to largely monopolize international trade in agricultural products, as a result, the reforms had significantly impacted the structure of the Chinese economy. Therefore, the Chinese government called for further liberalization in terms of tariff reduction, limiting nontariff measures to control agricultural imports, additional commercialization of state trading, and improvements of the foreign trade management (Huang et al., 1999:19).

The impacts of trade liberalization on agriculture were striking not only on agricultural products' price and trade, but also on domestic production and consumption. Estimates of the impact on the domestic economy predicted a fall in the domestic price of grains that would raise the grain consumption and slow down the production, thus the domestic grain production would fall behind the domestic consumption (Huang et al., 1999:20). Ultimately, the Chinese government was encouraged to give a more significant role to the global market within their economy, to determine trade patterns in order to maximize comparative advantage gains (Huang et al. 2002:47). This included specific crops, likely to result in a fall in price and rise in imports. of

Feed grains like soybeans -at lower prices, could translate to an increase in livestock producer's competitiveness.

2.2.2 Navigating foreign investments

To this end, in 2000 the 'going out' strategy was formally introduced in the Tenth Five Year Plan of China to encourage overseas investments (Yao and Li,132-133). Chinese companies are encouraged to invest and operate overseas to get access to international markets, foreign resources and advanced technologies with support from the Chinese state (McKay et al.,2016:595). In terms of internal administration, the state seems to simplify the examination and approval procedures for foreign investments. Economically, the state offers subsides, tax reductions, venture opportunities, and low interest loans to domestic investors, specially to state owned enterprises (SOE). Politically, the Chinese state aims to maintain a stable investment environment for Chinese foreign direct investments (FDI) through bilateral investment treaties and free trade agreements (*ibid*). Since the introduction of the Tenth Five Year plan, FDI's from China to other countries has increased rapidly, roughly 20 times between 2004 and 2013. As a region rich in natural resources with a high demand for manufactured and industrialized goods, China seems to have targeted Latin America for the expansion of Chinese markets, but more importantly for its raw materials, especially in the Brazilian agriculture sector. Most of Chinas extractive projects, 73 percent, are in the agriculture business 'agrobusiness' sector in the forms or mergers and acquisitions (ibid).

The rapid development of the Sino-Brazilian relationship is highlighting a shift from conventional understandings of political and economic behavior. The characteristics of Brazil and China's trade and investments point to a new version of North-South relations, with behavior suggesting a growing interdependence between these two emerging big economies. A new South-South type of cooperation suggests that even though there is strong competition, the increased interaction between these two countries along with the institutionalization of their economic ventures is pushing these countries closely together to see each other as true partners in a newly conceived, socially different transnational dimension.

2.2.3 A strategic partnership: Brazil and China

The reemergence of China brougt changes to the global economy and trade relations, this was of particular importance for the agrobuisness/or more general buisness in Brazil and their bilateral trade relationship with China. China's relationship with Brazil is characterized by common interests: increased demand for agricultural commodities which led to new partnerships abroad in order to supply and secure raw materials.

Brazil and China have held diplomatic relations over the past 40 years. Economic cooperation and terms of trade during the 1970's and 1980's were determined by Brazil, who had a more advanced industrial structure that exported steel and petrochemical products in exchange for petroleum (Wilkinson, 2016:1). By the 1990's however, the current patterns of trade were alredy present, as more than half (56% in 1991) of Brazil's export earnings came from iron ore and soy oil. Most of the imports from China at the time were cheap final consumer goods, reflecting China's rapid industrialization. In 1993, China declared their relationship with Brazil as a 'strategic partnership'. The partentship was further consolidated upon China's insertion into the WTO, Brazil had been a member of GATT since 1948 (wto, 2018). The covergence of diplomacy, trade, and investment was further cemented by infrastructure and transport as permanet features of the cooperation agreements.

For this purpose, China implemented the 'going out policy'. As for Brazil, the policy consisted of investments in transport, energy, and infrastructure. The policy entailed investments in extractive projects that offered lines of credit, assuring minimal interference with the receiving country's fiscal and trade policies (McKay et al. 2016:595; Oliviera et al. 2017:353). The Chinese strategy facilitated the financing of strategic infrastructure as well as raw material extraction projects, enabling them to accept commodities as payment. The processing and shipment of the raw materials often required recipient countries to contract Chinese construction firms and equipment, consequently enabling a type of South-South cooperation. The fact that China makes use of such economic measures was indicative of the imperative need for securing access to raw materials.

For Brazil, the implications of the Chinese demand for raw materials and the ongoing expansion of the extractivist development model opened the door to new markets and trade opportunities away from the US market dependability. As agrarian changes presented themselves in China, agriculture has become more industrialized in Brazil. Crops are more flexible in their use as food,

feed, fuel, and industrial materials. Consequently, integrating several economic sectors in the dynamics of the agrarian changes (McKay et al. 2016:593).

Industrial growth and crop flexibility have increased Brazilian production over the last two decades, which gives favorable prices to China. As a crop defined largely by the value of its coproducts -namely soybean meal and soybean oil, soy could be regarded as a fundamentally flexible crop (Oliveira, 2016:168). Soybean has become a key agricultural commodity in Sino-Brazilian relations, since China accounts for 64 percent of the world's soybean imports, and nearly 60 percent of which are produced in Brazil. While the majority of the soybean production originates from Latin America, China's influence over the market has implications for producers worldwide. This small grain is an essential component of China's multibillion-dollar (USD) grain-feed-meat complex as China is now the largest producer and consumer of pork (McKay et al.,2016:595). The Latin American region collectively produces more soybeans than any other region, with soybeans coming mostly from Brazil and a small amount from Argentina; which makes China an important and crucial market for its exports.

2.2.4 Arising issues

Brazil has become a strategic resource supplier for China's economic growth. Though China has great demand for other raw materials in the region such as minerals, petroleum, and biomass, this research concentrates on the agriculturally based resource, soybean. China selected soybean the grain needed to sustain their food security self-sufficiency policy, which China has been able to uphold through the last decades of accelerated economic growth (Wilkinson, 2016:3). The level of Chinese dependence on soy is concerning on a global scale because of the size of the demand. Even moderate imports can have a decisive impact on world trade due to Chinas size and population. Food security concerns become more centrical as China's per capita income advances and urbanization accelerates. The scale of even small levels of raw materials dependence in today's economy makes China's exclusive reliance on world markets and trade increasingly problematic(*ibid*). Chinese strategies to ensure resources are global, but Brazil became central to the supply of grains and meat for the Chinese dietary transition, due to soybeans.

Brazil stepping in to meet the Chinese demand for soybean, has led to the integration of the Chinese pork sector and the Brazilian soybean sector into an economic interdependence of this

commodity complex. The emergence of this commodity complex signals a departure from the traditional production consumption center of soy -which previously belonged to the US, towards a new South-South type of trade flow. The significance of the Sino-Brazilian economic interdependence suggests that big emerging economies might no longer require Western economies to mediate their economic transactions, as they seem to be shaping the structure of the global economy.

3. Theoretical framework

3.1 The interdependence of the soybean complex

In this section I introduce the concept 'complex interdependence' that was coined by Joseph S. Nye and Robert O. Keohane during the 1970s, in their book Power and Complex Interdependence, (Keohane and Nye,1970). I explain that complex interdependence highlights the emergence of transnational actors and the rise of international regimes and institutions responsible for the changes in the relationships between states, making their relationship more complex. This complexity directs attention to issues of asymmetry and who holds power in the relationship. To be able to qualify and assess such relations of power, the concepts of vulnerability and sensitivity are introduced. Yet power, in particular the uneven relations of power between states, has been an important issue in other theories of trade. I therefore add to the focus on complex interdependence a discussion of the Latin American school of Dependency theory presented by Thetonio Dos Santos, (Dos Santos, 1970). I also present the extractivist economic model, presented by Maristella Svampa (2013). I explain how the unequal relations of power that constitute trade relations between developed and underdeveloped state are portrayed by Latin American scholars. In the final section I explain how I approach the study of relations such as between China and Brazil, to outline interdependence and power asymmetries in regard to the soybean trade.

Until the outbreak of the global financial crisis in 2008, the Chinese economic growth was the result of strong internal expansion of the economy driven by high productive investments that transformed the structure of Chinese production. In 1978 the Chinese government seeking to confirm the sovereignty of the State over the territory, and the population, created an economic

development strategy whose main goal was the modernization of industry. As a result, China experienced increased participation in global trade that subsequently increased competitiveness in global markets and reflected the use of trade policy as a mechanism for the promotion of exports (Curado,2015;90). Upon insertion in the WTO in 2001, China became increasingly dependent on world markets, and its current development strategies are geared towards supplying a broad range of raw materials through extractivist projects in order to fulfill the self-sufficiency policy goal. While China's strategies to ensure resources are global, the Latin American region -mainly Brazil, are essential to the supply of grains. However, food security concerns become more central as China's per capita income advances and urbanization accelerates. Even small levels of food and raw materials dependence -especially in today's volatile markets, makes China's exclusive reliance on world markets and trade increasingly problematic (Wilkinson et al.,2016:4).

Concurrent to China's economic rise into the world economy, for the last four decades the ability of the world's farmers to feed the growing global population has drawn concerns as food crises increase in frequency and severity, spiking global food prices. Although there are many reasons for the price volatility, the emerging production and consumption centers in Brazil and China are given special attention. The 'meatification' (Weis, 2007) of Asia is seen as the main culprit for putting pressure on grain reserves, as more grains and oilseeds are fed to livestock instead of humans (Peine, 2013:194). The Chinese demand for agricultural exports is a significant factor, with responses to high price fluctuations increasing the risks associated with the Chinese dependence on global trade. It also draws attention to the re-configuration of trade flows and the role of transnational agricultural business.

China's pork production has transitioned into an intensified industrial model, and its demand for imported soy to feed the pigs has increased exponentially. Brazil has been able to meet such demands, leading to the integration of the Chinese pork sector and the Brazilian soybean sector. Thus, creating an interdependent relationship. The United States (US) had been the leading producer, processor and exporter of soybeans during mid-twentieth century, and currently US-based companies control most of its production, technology and trade. However, since the 1990's there's been a shift in the political geography of soy. Brazil accounts for 57 percent of world soybean exports, while China accounts for 65 percent of world soybean imports (Oliveira et

al.,2016:168). The Brazilian response to Chinese demand has driven the international soy trade away from traditional importers in the North, as Brazil surpassed the US in 2016 as the main soybean exporter to China (*ibid*). As the world's largest consumer and producer of soy respectively, China and Brazil highlight the new landscape of the global agricultural market along with the actions of transnational corporations.

The following sections elaborates on the characteristics and implications of the relationship between the Brazilian soybean and the Chinese pork industry.

3.1.1 Relationships under Complex interdependence

The term interdependence means mutual dependence, but within world politics is associated to situations defined by reciprocal effects among states or among actors in different states. These situations are represented by outcomes from international trade, or transactions. Trade is defined as flows of money, goods, people and messages across international borders. Keohane and Nye (2012) present three main characteristics of complex interdependence: multiple channels of communication, an absence of hierarchy in issues, and a reduced role of military force for policy.

- 1-Multiple channels of communication: allow for societies to connect by enabling interstate, trans governmental, and transnational relations. Connects societies through formal and informal channels between governmental elites and formal office arrangements. It also connects non-governmental elites and transnational organizations.
- 2-Absence of hierarchy: The absence of hierarchy in issues implies that the agenda is not consistently set or dominated by military security.
- 3- Reduced military: In situations of complex interdependence, governments would not use military force against other governments within their region. They would however use it against those outside the region. The reason is twofold: military force becomes irrelevant when resolving economic issues or disagreements among members of an alliance; but at the same time is relevant for political and military relations with a rival bloc. For the former situation interdependence is applicable, but not for the latter.

This research aims answer how can we define the relationship between Brazil and China following the soybean trade. Relationships under interdependence are characterized by the effects that trade will have on the countries involved, which will be determined by the constraints or costs associated with them. These costs are not always equal between the countries involved.

Because where there are reciprocal -but not necessarily symmetrical cost resulting from transactions, there is interdependence (Nye& Keohane, 2012:8).

The relationship between Brazil and China is an interdependent relationship characterized by the soybean commodity trade. The main feature of this interdependence is China seeking to secure agricultural resources to achieve self-sufficiency policy goals, started to rely on Brazilian soybeans in exchange for cheap final consumer products. Over time the demand expanded, and started showing disparities, rising from USD9 billion to over USD 80 billion between 2004 and 2013, making up an average growth of 30 percent annually (Wilkinson et al., 2016:1). China initially started exporting cheap manufactured goods that flooded the Brazilian market. Chinese exports shifted over time from cheap manufactured consumer goods to machines, equipment, and electronic goods, indicating a growing penetration into different sectors of the Brazilian market. Whereas almost 75 percent of Brazilian exports consisted of soybeans and iron ore. Trade relations between the two countries inverted completely by 2010, when Brazil assumed the role of raw material supplier, contributing to China's rapid industrialization (ibid). Meanwhile, in 2010 Brazil accounted for only 3 percent of China's imports and 1.5 percent of its exports. Thus, highlighting a high disproportionate ratio of the cost and benefits of their interdependent relationship. In 1970 Brazil had made big industrial advancements that placed the Brazilian economy ahead of the Chinese. But by 2012 China's gross domestic product (GDP) had grown 6 times that of Brazil, and accounted for 11.7 percent of total global trade, compared to Brazil's 1.3 percent (*ibid*).

The term interdependence goes beyond situations defined by mutual benefits, it seeks to integrate the concept into a broader framework. The result is a perspective indicating that an interdependent relationship will always be characterized by costs, as interdependence restricts autonomy (Keohane and Nye, 2012: 16). Complex interdependence argues that since it is not possible to determine beforehand if the degree of benefits from a relationship will exceed its costs, it will depend on the values of the actors involved as well as the nature of the relationship to determine the costs. The characterization of a relationship as 'interdependent' does not guarantee mutual benefit (*ibid*). In this sense China has been remarkable in its ability to maintain its level of self-sufficiency during three decades of impressive economic growth, however it has done so based on a selective dependence of raw material imports. However, the nature of the

Sino-Brazilian relationship is characterized by China relying on Brazil to secure access to soybeans, while the reliance also presents an opportunity to penetrate the Brazilian markets. Brazil -the leading exporter of soybeans, is able to meet such demands. But in return is faced with the costs of foreign direct investments that seek to increase control and access over raw material resource flows in Brazil (McKay et al.,2016:596).

Nye and Keohane (2012) propose two different perspectives to analyze cost and benefits in an interdependent relationship. The first focuses on joint gains and joint loses from the actors involved and is inspired in the classic economic approach of comparative advantage. Coined by Ricardo (1817), the principal of comparative advantage claims the reason why actors engage with international trade is that undistorted international trade will provide overall net benefits or simply put, mutual gains. That may be so, but the Ricardian interpretation of international trade excludes *how* those gains are to be divided, which is one of the political issues that complex interdependence hopes to address. It also leads to the second perspective, focused on *relative* gains and distribution.

Within the complex interdependence framework is not sufficient to focus on mutual gains, but instead is necessary to ask, 'who gets what'? Measurements that increase joint gains are not free of distributional conflict. Fox example -though not in similar respects, an analogy of the distribution of a pizza indicates that distribution does not guarantee the size of the slice, nor the amount of pizza toppings per slice. Governments and non-governmental organizations will try to increase their shares of gains from a transaction, even in circumstances where both actors benefit significantly from the relationship (Keohane and Nye, 2012:9). The clarification serves to understand that the purpose of complex interdependence is not to bring in a new world of cooperation by replacing the old world of international conflict.

Interdependence presents repeated practices over time between states, however, political and economic power structures are not always clearly defined. The transactions between Brazil and China in building a strategic partnership highlight great disparity. Traditional international politics dictates that if one side seeks to maximize gains by upsetting the status quo, it comes at the expense of the other side. Contrasting, views of the politics of economic interdependence involve competition, even when large benefits are to be expected from cooperation (*ibid*). The distinction is necessary because most relationships among states and other actors are rarely

evenly balanced. Complex interdependence is not meant to solely describe situations of evenly balanced mutual dependence. The asymmetries of dependence provide the sources of influence for actors in their dealings with one another.

Relationships of interdependence are characterized by asymmetries in power. In such relationships, the actor in the most powerful position can influence the other. The source of this powerful position can be related to the type of resources that this actor controls. Actors presenting a lesser degree of dependence often use the interdependent relationship as a source of power when bargaining over certain issues or by exercising their influence over other issues. The framework can be applied to relationships between transnational actors and governments as well as interstate relationships (Keohane & Nye,2012:8). Power can be measured by type of resources or by effects on outcomes. But to understand power there needs to be a deeper understanding of the dynamics in distribution of power among states.

3.2 Asymmetrical interdependence as a source of power

Power in simple terms can be defined as the ability to achieve one's goals. Robert Dahl (1961), defines power as the ability to get others to do what they otherwise would not do. But in order to be effective, one needs to become aware of other's preferences. Joseph S. Nye (1990) makes distinctions about power and its sources, declaring that because the ability to control others is associated with the possession of resources, political leaders define power as the possession of resources that range from population, territory, natural resources, economic size, military forces, and political stability among others. This interpretation may indicate that power is concrete, measurable and thus, predictable. It can also indicate that power has the ability to cause change from one form to another. Since some countries appear to be better than others in converting their resources into effective influence, power conversion may become a problem when thinking in terms of resources. Power conversion is the capacity to convert potential power –as measured by resources, to realized power -as measured by the changed behavior of others (Nye, 1990:178). Becoming aware of a states' ability to convert power and its possessions of power resources, may be the key to predicting outcomes accurately. Nye (1990) also mentions the relevance of determining which resource can provide the best basis of power in a particular situation, because

if chosen incorrectly -like for example the use of force, may be inappropriate for the situation or too costly.

It is difficult to be clear about the relationship of particular resources. For this study, one of the relevant measurements of power is power based on economic terms as it pertains to the first subquestion regarding how political and economic implications of the soybean trade affect the Sino-Brazilian relationship. As other sources of power, economic power cannot be measured in terms of perceptible resources (Nye,1990:180). Outcomes usually depend on bargaining, bargaining depends on the relative costs it may have in a particular situation, and how able an actor is to convert that potential power into outcomes. In this case, relative cost will be determined by the amount of measurable economic resources of a state, and more importantly by the degree of its interdependence in the relationship (*ibid*). This means that the actor with the lesser degree of interdependence has the potential power to exercise a higher degree of influence.

Power also means understanding structures. Susan Strange (1988), argued that there are four principal structures that constitute power: security, money, trade and information. The key point being that if a powerful state was able to dominate one or more structures, it would become a decisive actor in world politics. But in this argument is imperative to ask, who has the power to set the structures? Taking into account that the ability to act or to exercise power requires an understanding of the framework in which actions are taken. Traditional portrayals of power show military power as dominant over all other forms of power and thus, states with the most military power, controlled world affairs. But the resources that generate those power capabilities have become more complex. From the perspective of complex interdependence, power is defined as the ability of an actor to get others to do something they would not otherwise do, but at an acceptable cost to that actor. Asymmetrical interdependence can be a source of power by controlling resources or the potential to affect outcomes (Keohane & Nye, 2012:10).

Those relationships of interdependence that are characterized by asymmetries in power, show the actor in the most powerful position as able to influence the other. The source of this powerful position can be related to the type of resources that this actor controls. A less dependent actor in a relationship would indicate significant political resources, because changes that might take place in the relationship -whether initiated or threatened by that actor, would be less costly than to its more dependent partner (*ibid*). This advantage, however, does not mean that those political

resources will lead to similar patterns of control over outcomes -since as previously mentioned by Nye (1990), bargaining is usually the means of translating potential into actual effects or outcomes, meaning power conversion.

To understand the role or power in complex interdependence, two dimensions of power need to be defined: sensitivity and vulnerability. The terms were coined by economist Richard Cooper in 1961. The definitions used by Keohane and Nye (2012) are built upon those of Cooper, however, differ in meaning. Sensitivity in complex interdependence refers to how quickly the actions of one state can be experienced or felt by another state, and how great the cost of such transaction is. It describes the degree of response within a policy framework. A policy framework can be interpreted as a set of procedures or goals used in transactions or decision-making processes, with the intension to guide more detailed policies processes. Sensitivity is measured by the costly effects of the changes in transactions on states or governments and is created by the interactions within the policy framework. Sensitivity assumes that the sets of policies within a framework remains unchanged (Keohane and Nye, 2012:11). However, if one state was able to change its policies, then the other actor would be left vulnerable to those changes. But then this begs the question, if the framework were to be changed, and more alternatives became available for interdependent actors, what is the cost of adjusting to the changes outside the framework?

This question finds its answer in the second dimension of power, vulnerability. The vulnerability dimension of interdependence details the availability and costs of the alternatives actors are faced with (Keohane and Nye, 2012:11). When actors do have alternatives or options, they are less vulnerable to the changes deriving from a changed framework. The vulnerability dimension carries more relevance within an interdependent relationship because it focuses on the actor that is able to set the rules of the game, thus helping the understanding of the political structure of the relationship (*ibid*). For example, the relationship between food and international trade is complex because policy directions are not always straightforward or equal across countries, as there are internal and external factors to consider. Policies supporting extreme reliance of imported food can bring vulnerability and external shocks like a spike in prices that can destabilize a country's import bills over small periods of time. Excessive dependability on agricultural exports as primary sources of foreign exchange, can have detrimental consequences: long periods of price

decline, or the opposite -highly volatile prices; either of these factors impacts the food producers (Clapp, 2016:8).

Asymmetrical interdependencies are sources of power among actors. But just as important as it is to understand the manipulation of asymmetries, it most be clarified that asymmetrical interdependence alone cannot explaining bargaining outcomes. Because power measured by resources might look different than power measured by influence or outcomes, the more dependent state might be willing to make a bigger commitment than its less dependent partner, (Keohane and Nye,2012:16). The current global landscape of the soybean trade industry is presenting challenges for the traditional dominance of the sector by American transnational corporations. These companies have had control over the industry for decades. The Chinese and Brazilian governments, farmers, and domestic processors on both countries look for ways to circumvent the power and control these companies have over the sector (Peine, 2013:193). Thus, trying to have control of both resources and outcomes.

In the broader sense, the purpose of analyzing how complex interdependence measures power in terms of outcomes is not to predict the success or failure of an actor's ability to influence outcomes. It seeks to present initial bargaining advantages for actors on either side, like knowing the available options before making an informed decision. If or when the predictions based on patterns of asymmetrical interdependence are incorrect, the reason is often found in the bargaining process which is what translates having power over resources, into having power over outcomes (Keohane and Nye,2012:16). There are other relevant factors to consider when measuring power, that may also affect outcomes or behavior. Since relationships of interdependence often happen within frameworks of norms, rules, and procedures that regulate the behavior, and control the effects of the interdependence (*ibid*). The sets of governing arrangements that affect interdependent relationships are referred to as international regimes.

3.3 Regimes and Interdependent Relationships

International regimes have been conceptualized as the variables standing between causal factors - such as power or interests, and outcomes and behavior. Stephen Krasner (1982) defines regimes as the principals, norms, rules, and decision-making procedures around which the expectations of

actors are met in a particular issue or area. Krasner (1982) breaks downs the terms of regimes into: principals -understood as beliefs of facts, causation, and rectitude; norms, which are standards of behavior defined in terms of obligations and rights; rules, are specific prescriptions for action; and decision-making procedures are practices for implementing collective choices.

Different approaches to the relevance of regimes will naturally generate different answers. Susan Strange (1982), argues the concept of regime is misleading because it conceals basic economic and power relationships. Stranger questions the usefulness of the concept of regimes because it is ambiguous and imprecise. The reality of international cooperation and conflict as seen by Strange, is rooted in a limiting, state-centric paradigm. Therefore, the argument of regimes is rejected as it does not have any significant role for principals, norms, rules, and decision-making procedures. Contrasting, Krasner (1982), promotes an international regime of asymmetrical and power maximizing states acting within an anarchic environment. Proponents of this approach include Robert Keohane (2012), who adds that under certain restrictive conditions involving the failure of individual action to secure optimal outcomes, regimes seem to have an impact -even in an anarchic world. Sometimes the rules or procedures of world politics do not appear to be as complete or as organized as in domestic political systems, and institutions seem to lack autonomy and power. This weakness of international organizations gives the misleading perception that regimes are irrelevant, but specific international regimes have important effects on interdependent relationships (Keohane and Nye, 2012:17).

Keohane and Nye (2012) define regimes 'as sets of governing arrangements that include networks of rules, norms, and procedures that regulate behavior and control its effects' (Keohane & Nye, 2012:16). For the purposes of complex interdependence, the relationship between regimes to outcomes and behavior is of particular interest. So *how* do regimes make a difference for interdependent relationships?

Regimes need to be understood as long arrangements carrying change through every shift in power or interests. Clapp (2016) argues there are gaps in the world economy created by its expansion that are anchored in its operational capabilities. Because it is within these middle spaces where norms, practices, and rules that govern the world economy are constituted, they become the driving force of its expansion, thus, carrying those changes with it. Understanding the shared linkages between regimes and its driving forces may explain these middle spaces and

how they have developed to the point of becoming essential for explaining food outcomes in rich and poor countries alike (Clapp, 2016:8).

The degree of relevance of a regime, will be given by actors. Following the trends of the soybean trajectory, the global restructuring of the soybean processing industry shows new patterns of power. Transnational corporations (TNC's) can have enough power to influence the agenda and rules of regimes, in this case the international trade regime. Though we often speak of countries trading with one another, it is companies that do the work of moving goods across national borders. Therefore, they can influence the decision-making process of states in order to align their interests, with those of the regime (Peine, 2013:194). The Brazilian and Chinese soybean interdependence exemplifies a new world order of global agricultural markets, they highlight the actions of transnational corporations in those markets, which in turn reveal the contours of a new trade regime (*ibid*). The international trade of soybeans is often framed as dominated by importers, exporters, producers, and consumers that seem to represent conflicting national interest, but the fact is this small group of transnational corporations has controlled the industry for decades. These companies have consistently exploited the competition between the US and Brazil as soybean producers, while they strategically invest in the Chinese soy processing industry, in order to maximize profit by creating a supply chain (ibid). These decisions are in turn made within a policy framework and market conditions that are applicable to multiple situations or cases.

The structure of the international system is of special relevance for interdependence. The structure of a system is understood as the distribution of capabilities among similar units. Because in international political systems the most important units are states, their relevant capabilities are treated as their power sources (Keohane and Nye,2012:18). Structure then, can be understood as different from process within a regime because the latter refers to the bargaining behavior within a power structure (and not the source of power itself). The structure of the system -the distribution of power among the states, greatly affects the nature of the regime; the regime in turn, affects the political bargaining and daily decision-making processes within the system (*ibid*). Transnational corporations appear to be primary economic actors in international trade. These companies are faced with rapidly changing political landscapes, since supply chains are spread across vast geographic spaces. Over the last four decades, the leading soybean trading

companies managed to successfully integrate a soybean supply chain that has dominated markets in every significant soybean producing and consuming country in the world (Peine,2013:195). Thus, integrating transnational corporations into regimes. The supply chain formed by the transnational corporations shapes the control these companies have because of the depth of involvement they have in almost every step of the soybean processing: they are crucial in financing Brazilian soy production; they also hold a monopoly over the soy processing technology, and they control transportation (*ibid*).

Per the three tenets of complex interdependence, within world politics there are different channels of communication. Regimes allow for other actors -not just states, to participate directly and actively in the changes in structures, rules and norms. In the Sino-Brazilian relationship, transnational corporations seems to be relevant actor with a degree of power that allows them to affect outcomes and patterns of behavior. Which is connected to the second tenet of interdependence, the lack of hierarchy in issues. Reflecting that economic issues challenge the political agenda. The third tenet -reduced military force, may suggest the strongest indication of fundamental political and economic shifts. The political agenda appear to be driven largely by the perception that security is primarily economic. Thus, becoming clear that the traditional understanding of military force, (security) is no longer the priority.

3.4 Theory of Dependence

The theory of dependence aims to highlight relations of dependence between countries. It proposes closer analysis of the internal structures and external relations of dependent countries in order to overcome their dependence. It interprets the internal state of countries as a part of the world economy. Latin American scholar, Theotonio Dos Santos (1970) describes dependence theory as 'a situation in which the economy of certain countries is conditioned by the development and expansion of another economy to which the former is subjected to' (Dos Santos,1970:231). The relationship between two or more economies and their relations to trade assumes the form of dependence when the dominant state is able to expand, becoming self-sustaining; while the economy of the dependent state, is only able to expand as a reflection of

that expansion. Dependence theory urges the study of the internal laws of development in those countries that are the object of expansions, since they seem to be governed by them.

As a product of the Chinese economic expansion, agroindustrial crop production in Brazil has increased dramatically. Though there is great value in the securement of the market -thanks to the growing Chinese demand, it has also reduced the Brazilian market. Just four primary products -soybeans, iron, copper and crude petroleum, make up 70 percent of exports to China (McKay et al.,2016:593). While Chinese exports are more diversified, ranging from telecommunications equipment, data processing equipment, boats, and motorcycles; it seems as though the terms of international trade allow the Brazilian economy to expand as far as the Chinese demand allows it to. These terms of trade render the Brazilian economy extremely dependent on just a few primary commodities, which are highly subjective to the volatility of the international market (*ibid*).

Dos Santos (1970) claims that the process of constituting a world economy integrating national economies into the world markets of commodities and capital, will result in unequal relations produced by this market. The relations are unequal because the development of parts of the system happens at the expense of the other parts (Dos Santos,1970:231). Trade relations that are based on monopolistic control of the market, will lead to transfer of surplus generated on the dependent country, but favoring the dominant country. As a result, the dominant country exercises that power, which translates to benefits and profits (*ibid*). And thus, increasing their domestic surplus while strengthening their control of the economy of other countries.

3.4.1 The extractivist model

Another line of Latin American scholar literature (Svampa,2013), regarding the effect of China on the region, divide the expansion between a neoliberal approach and the theory of development. The neoliberal approach is focused on the positive effects of Chinese growth and the complementarity of its trade relations with Latin America. The neoliberal discourse has been updated, and while it continues to emphasize the idea that states are subordinated to markets, now states are subordinated to supranational regulatory institutions. The development discourse returns as a concept related to growth, productivity and modernization. The difference is, it resurfaces in relation to the development of extractivist projects and not an ideology of

industrialization. This new approach is presented by Svampa (2013), who illustrates the negative impact of China in the structure of the Latin American regions' production. It showcases the accelerated effects of trade in the region, mainly, the reprimarization of the export agendas of countries such as Brazil.

Shifting from the 1990's neoliberal doctrines focusing on finance, Svampa (2013) presents a new economic model based on large-scale exports of raw materials. The exploitation and export of natural resources is by no means a new activity in the region. But while there is ample evidence attesting to the growth of extractivist methods during the twentieth century, (Oliveira, 2016:163; Curado, 2015:89) the system of accumulation seems to have changed. Projects aimed to monitor, extract, and export raw materials without added value, have intensified. This economic model is recognized as the starting point of a new political and economic order sustained by the volatility of international prices for raw materials and consumer goods. It also reflects the high level of demand in developed countries and rising economies (Svampa, 2013:117). Contrasting with the 1990's -when the Latin American continent appeared to be reinvented by a single neoliberal model, the new economic model is less described by a single discourse, and more by a collection of tensions and contradictions that are hard to integrate. Unlike past neoliberal doctrines, the difference is that this new economic model is characterized by remarkable margins of profitability and high growth rates of Latin American economies.

Svampa (2013) refers to this economic model as the 'commodities consensus'. Talks of a consensus include economic order, but it also concretizes a system of domination. The reprimarization of Latin America through raw materials appears to be directly linked to the loss of food sovereignty as it relates to large-scale exports and large demand for raw materials. These are destined to become livestock feed or biofuel due to increasing population, increasing prices of other energy sources, and environmental conditions. Accumulation within this commodities consensus adds to the dynamic of dispossession of land, resources, and territories while it creates new forms of dependency and domination (Svampa, 2013:118; Warner, 2015:1178).

The result of the reprimarization process appears to be the consolidation of a developmental model based on an extractivist economy. Supported by an over exploitation of non-renewable natural resources, and the expansion of borders to territories that were once considered unproductive (Svampa, 2013:118). The extractivist economy is characterized by transport

infrastructure projects (waterways, harbors, etc.), energy projects, and communication infrastructure projects. The extractivist economic model is consolidated by the participation of transnational corporations in large scale projects that pose major impact and risks on social, economic and environmental issues within the territories where they take place (*ibid*). This new consensus highlights a series of ambivalences, and paradoxes; marking the coexistence and interconnections of neoliberal ideology, and new progressive development (Curado,2015: 98). Thus, the commodities consensus can be interpreted as both a series of ruptures, and a series of continuities that unlike its' predecessors, stablishes rules that accept new asymmetrical and political relations in Latin America.

This account of Latin American scholars that highlight in different ways the degree of impact of both neoliberal ideas and the reprimarization of Latin America forms a pattern describing the degree of Chinas' immersion on the region's economy. The theory of dependence may in part accurately describe that the dependence of Latin American countries on other economies deepens and aggravates the fundamental problems of their own economies. However, it does so by proposing that the dependent state -Brazil and its development, is conditioned by the economic development of China. But this approach does not contemplate the benefits posed by such interdependence within the international system. Through the soybean trade China challenges and benefits Brazil. In spite of perceived competitive behavior, the trajectory of the soybean trade, the increase interaction between these two countries, and the economic profits deriving from the industrialization of their economic sectors, is driving these two countries to see themselves as partners.

Traditional theoretical understandings within world politics recognizes states as the main actors within the international system. As such, states are perceived as the most relevant actors capable of exercising power. In interpreting the relationship of Brazil and China through complex interdependence the aim is to understand the relationship from the different actors points of view. Through complex interdependence other actors, find a place within the international system. The main actors forming this complex interdependence -Brazil, China and the transnational corporations conducting trade on behalf of these countries. These corporations have become important actors within international institutions like the WTO, where they are able to influence decision making processes that usually align with the desires or wishes of the

'dominant' states, within an interdependent relationship (Peine, 2013:196). It is precisely the ability for actors to communicate via multiple channels of communication that help provide the political framework within which international economic processes occur, therefore understanding regimes is crucial to understanding the politics of interdependence (Keohane and Nye, 2012:9)

China has been able to expand -due to a gathering of favorable circumstances, ranging from the economic reforms that restructured their economy, to the subsequent policies the reforms generated. Namely, those policies supporting the expansion of foreign direct investment projects. The Chinese economic growth is what has come to transform Chinese economic power into their resource. However, China has been able to exercise set power and influence the relationship with Brazil and define it by the extent of the Chinese soybean demand.

Understanding the social, ecological, and economic relationships between food and power, may indicate different dimensions of relations between actors in the international system, with some experiencing beneficial and fruitful ties while others have a disproportionate share of benefits and costs. The terms of complex interdependence seem to come closer to explaining economic issues of interdependence, such as the relationship, characterization, and terms of economic interdependence between some countries. Therefore, it is the approach chosen for this study to discuss the Sino-Brazilian soybean interdependence.

4. Research Methodology

4.1 The Discipled Interpretative case study approach

This chapter focuses on the research design, and methodology used for this research. The methodology used is qualitative desk research. The reason to choose qualitative research as a research method is that it enables the description of how individuals interpret their social world by their reality -understanding that the set reality may shift continuously (Bryman et al.2002:2). The research is based on theoretical analysis, with a selection and discussion of reviwed

theoretical and descriptive material about a specific topic. The focus of the qualitative desk study method is to understand the main concepts of theories (*ibid*). This research is literature based, and was conducted through a case study. A case study is defined as an approach to research that facilitates the exploration of a phenomenon within its context, while using several data sources (Baxter et al.,2008:544). It allows researchers to study complex phenomena within single settings.

I chose the discipled interpretative case study, which is a case study approach of IPE. Case studies are one of the most common approaches to studying IPE as it is a detailed investigation of a particular event or issue (O'Brien, 2016:27). Within international political economy, qualitative methods are standard as they contribute to theory-building. For this research, a single case study strategy is used because as it allows for exploration of the case while considering the influence of several actors that are situated within the same framework. It enabled analyzing of the sources from within each actors' perspective individually.

Single case study is an umbrella of qualitative case studies that covers the disciplined interpretative case studies, hypothesis-generating case studies, the least-likely/most likely case study, and deviant case studies (Odell, 2001:161). In IPE the primary objective of case studies is to develop and critique different theories that cover most subjects studied by a political economist. From imperial expansion, interdependence and war, world depressions, trade wars, and policy decisions (*ibid*). But a case study does not need to be limited to reporting facts, it needs to have a deep understanding of the turning points of the events studied. The disciplined interpretative case study is appropriate for this research because it allows for contrasting the sources and present them from different angles while analyzing the interactions of the actors involved. As the research for this thesis is based on secondary sources, what follows is a description of the reviewing process of the relevant sources used to gain a broader understanding of the subject of investigation.

4.2 Research design

The goal of this research, is to investigate the integration of the Brazilian soybean sector and the Chinese pork sector, creating the soybean-meat complex. In order to determine how the actors involved are restructuring global trade flows, the purpose was to interpret understandings of

reality that drive their common interests. In the previous chapter, complex interdependence, as coined by Robert O. Keohane and Joseph S. Nye (1977) was presented to analyze the Sino-Brazilian interdependence. The theory of Dependence, as interpreted by Theotonio Dos Santos (1970) was also presented as to have a point of reference to compare and contrast why complex interdependence was chosen for the research. The research process to determine the terms and conditions of the interdependence intensification was divided in three parts. The first, identified the conditions leading to the increasing Chinese demand as well as the terms under which Brazil increased its production of soy. The second part focused on the sources of power China and Brazil manipulate, and how the asymmetries emerging are used in order to maximize their gains. The third part analyzed regimes and the increasing influence transnational corporations are able to exercise over the consolidation of the soybean-meat complex. For data collection purposes, the first two parts were combined, thus, dividing the research into two categories of source collection.

The source collection for this research is based on secondary relevant sources. Such as public official reports, government documents, academic journals, articles, books, edited chapters on books, other case studies, and institution records. The design of a research project details the plan for how the study will be conducted by providing a framework in which to analyze the collected data (Berg and Lune 2014:41). It is difficult to understand with absolute certitude the actions of actors within the international system, as different meanings must be sorted, and interpretations need to be considered. For this research it was challenging to select from the different sources regarding the terms under which China entered the Sino-Brazilian relationship. The reason was understanding the inner workings of the Chinese government. The structure of the Chinese government is complex. The central government is divided in several branches, each preceding over different government functions. The information available by the Chinese central government did not align with the information available on the topic from other government branches. Resulting in a gathering of Chinese experts that contradict and disagree with one another on the same terms, conditions, and development strategies used by the Chinese state regarding the soybean trade.

Trying to understand the different interpretations of the same topic led to a process of sorting sources in order to create common themes, patterns and links that enabled a cohesive framework

to work with. By using sources from different geographies, I was able to compare and contrast the information collected as they formed different narratives. The more neutral sources helped me piece together a cohesive framework, allowing for narrative clarification. As the research is based on secondary information, these sources presents advantages and challenges.

4.3 Reliability

The challenges of using secondary sources include the absence of an insider's perspective of a situation. The lack of first-hand understanding of settings or people may hinder the interpretation of events or context (Bryman, 2016:594). This creates unfamiliarity with the data. This research entails states, economic growth, political situations, and international trade. It would be challenging to interpret events, context or circumstances with complete accuracy. As it is challenging to verify the validity of the research using other research methods. The advantage of self-collection of data is understanding the structure and contours of the data (Bryman, 2016:313). The lack of an inside perspective could also limit the ability to examine isolated elements of the factors affecting the outcome of the study.

For the purpose of this research the use of the case study approach helps the description of events, individuals, policy decision-making processes, and institutions' behavior that explain the actions taken within an international political economy context (O'Brien, 2016:27). However, since we cannot be certain if the case is the general trend or the rule, the case may not be applicable to other studies. It would not be accurate to predict or assume the outcomes of social settings because they are constantly evolving, and circumstances conducive to events may change.

Since most events are consistent with more than one interpretation, one general risk of the disciplined interpretative case study is the selective construction of the facts to support a favored theory (Odell,2001:164). To avoid this risk, a presentation of an alternative theory is recommended. For this research the theory of Dependence, as well as the extractivist economic model deriving from neoliberal ideologies, are presented in order to interpret economic interdependence from other perspectives.

This research entails the emerging production and consumption centers of soybean in Brazil and China, that are reconfiguring the trade flows and the role of transnational corporations in that process. The analysis highlights the emergence of transnational actors and the rise of international regimes and institutions responsible for the changes in the relationships between states, making their relationship more complex. This complexity directs attention to issues of asymmetry and who holds power in the relationship. The concepts of vulnerability and sensitivity are introduced to be able to assess such relations of power. The data collected in this research is secondary. Because the data is secondary, this research in no way tries to interpret the findings conclusive -as it lacks an internal perspective of the situation. Following, I present the main findings, revealing potential new international trade structures emerging from the soybean-meat complex.

5. Analysis

The chapter id divided in four subsections. Section one presents transnational corporations and how they became legitimized as influential actors within the soybean industry. It also details the strong link connecting transnational actors to institutions highlighting the degree of influence these companies have over states, exercised through institutions. The asymmetries within relationships is explained to demonstrate how actors use power as resources to affect bargaining and policy decision-making processes. The second section presents the meatification of China, in terms of the implications it has had on the relationship with Brazil, detailing the challenges and opportunities of their complex interdependence. The extent of the vulnerability and sensitivity of Brazil and China are analyzed in relation to influence, and power resources distribution. The third subsection presents the emerging south-south trade flows and the dynamics of power that play a part in the restructuring shifts within the soy industry. With the emergence of new power relations, the apparent formation of a new trade regime seems to have developed. This section details the level of influence Brazil and China have acquired within institutions. However, transnational corporations are presented as embedded within the new dynamics of international trade institution. Thus, making these corporate regimes have power over outcomes. This power over outcomes is exercised through policy and measured through economic power.

5.1 The role of transnational corporations in the soybean industry

When speaking of trade relations, usually what is mentioned is the countries involved in trade, however, it is actually companies who make it possible. The primary economic actors in global trade in this sense, should be transnational corporations. They negotiate with rapidly changing political landscapes to match the reaches of supply chains stretched across large geographical spaces (Peine, 2013:195). Transitional corporations are defined as firms that engage in direct investments in several countries, and through these investments gain control of income generating assets that in turn, incorporate the companies in international production (Nicula, 2015:280). These companies can influence the market economy of states by stimulating flows of investments. The characteristics that describe these companies relate to size, as it is what defines the scope of their operations, structure, and organization. But the main characteristic is their relation to the world economy, because of the essential role they play within the development of the world economy today.

The size and nature of these companies allows them to interact with governments of the states they negotiate with. These interactions often lead the companies to heavily invest in the states' economic sector, where the negotiations usually favor the companies and not the host state (Nicula,2015:280). This raises questions about whether corporate power enables them to effectively influence the politics of states. And if we are to assume this is the case, who controls the power these companies might have over states? Furthermore, under what terms would states enter negotiations that might limit their autonomy? Complex interdependence proposes that actors who are willing to enter such relationships do so by contrasting the costs and benefits deriving from such relations. However, since it is not possible to know beforehand if the benefits will exceed the costs, it will depend on both the values of the actors involved and the nature of the relationship to determine the costs. Since defining a relationship as interdependent doesn't guarantee who will benefit more from the relationship, it is the power resources that will determine an actor's position within set relationship.

The degree of power and influence TNC's have is cloaked in a free market ideology, since it is through the market liberalization that these companies have gained considerable power in the international system. The support of free markets advances their gain-maximizing initiatives, while shielding them from legal liability. Through this concentration of power, TNC's are able to influence international political and economic policies (Nicula, 2015:291). The degree of influence in political issues is promoted by the corporate agenda, which has advanced the belief that TNC's are necessary for economic growth. In the Chinese case, the economic growth that propelled the Chinese re-mergence into the world economy was due in part to TNC's and their foreign investments in the agriculture sector. More specifically, the investments on agroindustrial commodities such as soybeans cemented the Chinese relationship to these companies. Though the origins of this relation has its roots in the North.

In the post-Cold War period, during the 1990's the US controlled half of the world's soybean production, and approximately 51 percent of the global soy industry (Oliveira, 2016:168). Transnational corporations were the dominant actors in international soybean trade. Four of these stand out: ADM, Bunge, Cargill and Louis Dreyfus. These are collectively known as the ABCD's. The companies were able to establish a virtual global monopoly because they were vertically integrated into the processing of soy. Vertical integration means they were involved from the moments farmers harvested soy, to the storage, to transportation logistics from the US to South America, to port terminals (Oliveira et al., 2016:170). This verticalization acts as a pocket that creates the sources of power for these companies. The economic features of the post-Cold War period were the rapid expanding and non-discriminatory trade, large scale and rapid movements of funds from one center to another -under fixed exchange rates, and the rapid growth of TNC's (Keohane and Nye, 2012:33). These features enabled the increasing control over the soybean production chain, and also affected the price setting mechanisms within markets. Which in turn increased profit margins, reduced production and transactions costs, and allowed them to engage in future market hedging (ibid). But most important of all, for this discussion, the verticalization resulted in synergies of the different sectors of the soybean production and processing. Synergies² often involve the interaction or cooperation of two or more companies that combine their resources with the purpose of gaining more power together than they would separately.

_

¹ Verticalization: When a company control more than one stage of the supply chain.

² Synergy: is the concept that the value and performance of two companies combined will be greater than the sum of their separate individual parts.

The ABCD's North Atlantic agroindustrial business systematically gained control of the entire soybean complex. From soybean farms in the US, to the cerrados of Brazil, all operated in the same manner, employed the same technologies, and eventually started purchasing and selling soy to the same markets controlled by these few companies (Oliveira, 2016:357). Congruently, in a broader process, neoliberal reforms were taking place worldwide, which enabled these companies to transcend national borders and stablish their own 'soybean republic' across South America (Oliveira et al.,2016:171). As the South American region became the largest soybean producer in the world, these companies took advantage of the crisis in the Chinese domestic soybean processing industry and made large scale acquisitions. The companies invested heavily on the domestic Chinese soybean market and at one point owned 80 percent of the Chinese soybean industry.

The measures taken by the companies to ensure their participation in every step of the production chain indicates their wish to maximize gains. This move also indicated the degree of power these companies had over the international food trade regime at the time. But it also served to reflect the political ties to US state interest and the neoliberal agenda. The regulatory structuring of the post-Cold War international food regime, served to further concentrate the power and profit in the hands of these transnational corporations (Oliveira et al.,2016:171). This expansion concretized their dominance over the international food trade regime, and thus, legitimized them as corporate actors.

Whether and to what extent a corporate regime comes to dominate the international food system will depend on its political sustainability (McMichael, 2000:22). The international trade of soy is presented as a transaction conducted between importers, exporters, producers, and consumers. This narrative describes conflicting national interest. The reality is, that this small handful of TNC's exploits the competitiveness of the US and Brazil producers (Peine, 2013:10). For example, while investing strategically in the Chinese industry, their intent was to maximize gains through a profitable supply chain. The reason to maximize gains, is that actors engaged in an interdependent relationship will always try to maximize gains, even in situations where both actors are expected to benefit. The reason to for competition stems from the fact that gain maximization measures do not guarantee distribution of resources.

Complex interdependence proposes two measurements of the costs and benefits of an interdependence relationship. If we were to frame the relationship between the TNC's and states in terms of costs and benefits of transactions, the measuring of the costs and benefits is often related to why the actors engage in trade. The standard answer is 'comparative advantage' which is related to joint gains and joint loses. Under an interdependent relationship the principle of comparative advantage -as coined by Ricardo (1817), seems to neglect to mention how the gains will be divided, and therefore renders the concept futile in this situation. Evidently these companies are not seeking mutual gains through vertical integration. The exploitation of US and Brazil's competitiveness is congruent with the second measurement proposed by complex interdependence, where the costs and benefits are determined by relative gains and distribution. Which argues that actor will engage in competition even when gains are expected for both actors in the relationship, as gains are not free from distribution conflicts (Keohane and Nye, 2012:8). Therefore, their aim is to maximize their share of gains.

Adding a degree of complexity to the relationship between TNC's and states, are institutions. Institutions serve as the regulatory environment in which both actors interact. After the Cold War, the TNC's became major pillars of a corporate food regime that shared narrow links between US interests and the post war regulatory mechanism that was structuring the post-war international food and agriculture regime (Oliveira et al.,2016:171). This in turn concentrated the power and gains in the hands of the US-based transnational agrobusiness corporations. From the expansion of the soybean complex created by these companies, came conflicting views regarding their dominance within the international food and agriculture regime. Consequently, leading to the emergence of new actors that restructured of the soybean-meat complex. The restructuring causes, and conditions is discussed in the next section as is connected to each actor individually.

The degree of influence TNC's have on an international scale is related to the concept of globalization. In this sense, the dominance of the corporate regime over the international food and agriculture system will be determined by its political sustainability. By describing globalization in political terms in relation to the international food and agricultural system, set system becomes susceptible to modifications from the natural constraints of this environment (McMichael, 2000:22). The WTO, was the instrument of reform of the international trade system in food stuff during the 1990's. The result of this reform integrated the world food production

and consumption into an international production system organized and managed by TNC's. It is the behavior of these corporations that create links between them and national economies specially in those states with industrialized economies, that have led to the rise of this production system.

Complex interdependence defines regimes as governing arrangements that include networks of rules, norms, and procedures that regulate behavior and control its effects (Keohane & Nye, 2012:16). Corporate regimes are a set of power relations where formal rules and operating processes face continual opposition by the members of the regime itself (McMichael, 1999:22). During the 1990's the neoliberal reforms that enabled significant inflows of capital from TNC's into industrialized economies expanded their influence in institutions. The consolidation of the global soy industry reveals internal contradictions as political decision-making processes are not always clear cut. But specific international regimes have important effects on interdependent relationships (Keohane and Nye, 2012:17). For example, Brazil and China -while facing challenges from the decades long control over the soybean industry, try to bypass their grip. However, the strategic decisions the companies make, are structured by policies and market conditions that benefit them (Peine, 2013:195). Thus, enabling these companies to have power over outcomes. In the end, it seems these companies are able to exercise power in different ways -over states, and/ or institutions.

Transnational corporation are essential actors within the soybean-meat complex as they stablished a type of vertical integration that enables their involvement in all stages of soybean production. The control these companies had, developed during the post-Cold War, within market conditions that facilitated the expansion and consolidation of the soybean industry under these few companies. International regimes are intermediate factors between the power structure of an international system and the political and economic bargaining taking place along with it (Keohane and Nye,2012:18). The distribution of power among states greatly affects the regimes. The regime in turn affects -and in the case of the corporate regime dominates, the political bargaining as well as decision making processes that occur within the international food and agriculture system.

The relationship the TNC's have with Brazil and China, challenges the Sino-Brazilian relationship, because even though both states have great power resources, they are not always

able to exercise their power or influence. Corporate regimes act as mediators between states and institutions, but the bargaining and decision-making processes taking place between them do not always side with the interests of the states. Though there are shifts within the structure of the global soybean industry, as new power dynamics emerge, the TNC's influence still reaches too far down the production chain. What follows is a discussion of the intensification of the Sino-Brazilian interdependence where the power resources of each country is analyzed by their sensitivities and vulnerabilities to outline the contours of the soybean-meat complex.

5.2 The development of South-South trade flows

Whether there is adequate competition within the global soybean industry is a question that can generate multiple answers. Adequate competition has different implications for the different actors involved. The control that the ABCD's hold over the soybean industry, should be interpreted in the context of different political and economic conditions for both Brazil and China.

The political and economic ties holding Brazil and China together has resulted in the emergence of the South-South cooperation strategic partnership. Some say it challenges the neoliberal assumptions of the Washington Consensus³ (Jilberto and Hogeboom, 2012::39). Others characterize the partnership by its political relevance within WTO negotiations. Placing it into a broader context of increasing economic importance for Russia, India and South Africa -the rest of the BRICS nations, as their main trade partners within the institution (Hopewell, 2015:311). In the context of the WTO, the depiction of Brazil and China, is of two new powers that are challenging the traditional dominance of the US in the governance of the global economy (*ibid*). The challenge narrative stems from the great influence the US had had on the global economy through neoliberal economic restructuring, that is now being challenged by new developing countries -called rising power, that could subsequently disrupt the neoliberal dominance. Though Brazil and China share mutual interest within the global soy industry, which are pursued through their complex interdependence, each state is an influential actor within the international

-

³ The Washington Consensus refers to the set of policies prescribed by the IMF and the World Bank to 'encourage' development and help countries of the global South get out of debt during the 1980's. These policies follow neoliberal principals of privatization and trade liberalization.

trade system. These depictions seem to omit the fact that the 'rise' of these new powers, is in fact an indication of their individual economic might. Identifying the forces propelling their rise allows for better understanding of power resources and distribution within their interdependent relationship.

The forces driving the rise of Brazil and China differ for each state, as these countries have taken different paths to power. China's re-emergence in the world economy is linked to their growing economy. Brazil's rise is connected to their cooperation and leadership for developing countries coalitions that created the G20, enabling Brazil to exercise influence above its economic weight (Hopewell,2915:311). The current international economic landscape was created under the American hegemony period of post-World War II, and therefore is shaped in great part by US power (Gilpin, 1987:11). The institutions created to govern the world economy at the time, such as the WTO, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank, were consequently heavily influenced by the US and other advanced and industrialized states. The result was the exclusion of developing countries from global economic decision-making processes inside these institutions. The WTO is a core multilateral economic institution, responsible for setting and enforcing the rules of the international trade system. It has also been scenario for struggle over global power relations. Is one of the first institutions to experience a shift in power away from the US, and the rise of new developing country power (Hopewell, 2013:604). It is the institution tying Brazilian and Chinese mutual interests through international commodity trade.

As the dynamics of the global economy seem be transforming Brazil and China into increasingly important actors. The global relevance of these states in evident across different institutions. Of particular interests for this discussion, is the WTO, where Brazil and China have apparently entered the 'inner circle' of power and emerged as important actors of trade negotiations.

Most of China's power stems from the fact that the Chinese economy has quadrupled since the reform period that started in 1978 (Huang, 1999:20). China is portrayed as the rising new power that will challenge the US, based on its large economy, rapid growth rates, its major role in world trade, and considerable economic power (Hopewell, 2015:313). Brazil, however, is pictured as a secondary power having fewer capabilities than China. Brazil's economy amounts to a small fraction of the Chinese, specifically GDP 2.4 trillion, compared to China's 8.3 trillion (*ibid*). Likewise, while China represents 10 percent of global trade, Brazil accounts for 1 percent.

Brazil's activism in the WTO, has been attributed for leading developing countries into the G20, and for bringing an end to the dominance of the US through targeting US policies in bargaining and decision-making processes (*ibid*). This may well be the case, but Brazil exhibits behavior that rather than challenge the neoliberal agenda in the WTO, promotes free market globalization, and supports the expansion and further liberalization of the world economy.

The force driving Brazilian interests is an export-oriented agroindustrial agenda, with soybean as its main export. Since Brazil and China are both increasingly influential members of the WTO this may indicate that the real challenge here is not the restructuring of the WTO being caused by the power relations of Brazil and China. The challenge brought by Brazil and China seems be rooted in the power generating resources of the neoliberal discourse. From the complex interdependence lens, the asymmetrical manipulation of power these companies are able to exercise, may have driven Brazil and China to seek alternatives in order to be less sensitive to the terms and conditions these companies operate under. For example, the first dimension of power -sensitivity, is measured by how the resulting cost of changes in transactions on states or governments, sensitivity develops through the interactions of actors within a policy framework. However, sensitivity assumes that the sets of policies within a framework remains unchanged (Keohane and Nye, 2012:11). Since the set of policies remains unchanged, this means Brazil and China seem to be using the tools created by the US and the US-based transnational corporations (policies, investment strategies, mergers and acquisitions, etc.), to their advantage and thus, advancing their South-South agenda. But it also shows their intent to circumvent the terms and conditions given. The second dimension of power is vulnerability. Vulnerability details the availability and costs of alternatives actors are faced with (ibid). By seeking other alternatives to change the framework they are faced with, Brazil and China would become less vulnerable to the changes of set framework.

The WTO is acting as the institution through which these shifts are taking place. Institutions are neither so powerful nor so autonomous, and yet, relationships of interdependence occur within and therefore may be affected by networks, rules, norms and procedures, that regulate the behavior and control its effects (Keohane and Nye,2012:16). Complex interdependence defines regimes as the set of government arrangements affecting interdependent relationships. The behavior of Brazil and China is congruent with power maximizing strategies that are defying the

power distribution set by the US and the ABCD's. International regimes are intermediate factors between the power structure of an international system and the political and economic bargaining that takes place with it (*ibid*). To better illustrate this argument, the actors and the reasons leading up to this Sino-Brazilian strategy need to be explained. Starting with the extent of power these companies held at one point over global the soybean industry.

The increasing soy production and processing in South America during the 1990's took place alongside the expansion and consolidation of the soybean industry in the hands of the ABCD's. Through neoliberal reforms enabling flows of transnational capital into Brazil, these companies made mergers and acquisitions with small and medium size soybean processing companies. They expanded the production capacity of the processing plants and constructed new facilities in ports to ensure global connection of operations which provided strategic market advantages (Oliveira et al.,2016:172). Consequently, the ABCD's gained control over 50 percent of the global soybean crushing⁴ capacity.

The three tenets of complex interdependence are multiple channels of communication, an absence of hierarchy in issues, and a reduced role of force for policy purposes. Multiples channels of communication are one of the conditions under which different actors can develop an interdependent relationship, enabling communication in both formal and informal relations between governmental elites and formal office arrangements (Keohane and Nye, 2012:19). But also, non-governmental elites and transnational organizations. It is precisely these channels of communication that allowed the ABCD's to gain such influence over the soybean sector globally. In this sense, the neoliberal reforms that took over the international trade system during 1990's helped the expansion of the ABCD's by enabling these companies to cast a wider net over the soybean global markets, thus, having influence over both economic resources and the political processes.

Though the ABCD's expanded their acquisitions and merges, they hit a period of inactivity where their market shares became stagnated at around 50 percent of total crush capacity (Oliveira et al.,2016:172). The stagnation was due to the emergence of new large-scale actors from within the South American region, specifically from the agricultural business sector. In

48

⁴ Soybean crushing refers to turning soybeans into meal and soybean oil through a process known as crushing.

Brazil, these new actors own significant shares of the crushing industry. The reason was the Brazilian government, which removed heavy export taxes on unprocessed commodities in order to make its exports of unprocessed soybeans more competitive in international markets. As a result, domestic soybean crushing fell from 95 percent of total production in 1995, to less than 50 percent today (*ibid*). Only 25 percent of Brazilian soy remains in Brazil, where is repurposed for domestic use. The great majority is exported as unprocessed soybeans to major processing and consumption regions, mainly in East Asia.

In the Chinese case the effects of these companies over the soybean sector were different. During the 1990's due to the reform period, China changed the tax and tariffs structure for soybeans to promote whole bean imports. The Chinese government also started promoting foreign investments through fiscal incentives in the soybean crushing industry on the main Chinese ports. The concurrent results of these two processes cemented the interdependence of Brazil and China, and the emergence of new trade flows. For Brazil, the results included a geographic redirection in whole-bean exports, from Europe -which had received the majority of Brazilian soybean exports until 2004, to China. This was a drastic change reflecting the rapid changes in the soybean market. In 2003, 54 percent of Brazilian whole soybean exports still went to Europe, with only 30 percent going to China (Oliveira et al.,2016:172). By 2013 the European share of those exports had dropped significantly to only 12 percent, while China became the destination of a formidable 75 percent. This redirection laid the groundwork of the restructuring of the soybean processing industry where Brazil and China now produce 54 percent and crush 61 percent of all soybeans in the world(*ibid*). Thus, intensifying their interdependence through mutual interests.

As the Sino-Brazilian interdependence intensifies with the redirection of the soybean industry to the South, the level of involvement of the ABCD's had decreased. The redirecting of the soybean industry, resulted in US figures dropping significantly, with the soybean processing shares mounting to only to 19 percent of global production. Therefore, it can be said that the global soybean industry has a new landscape that is no longer anchored in the United States. Though the ABCD's retain a significant share of global crush and trade, they now compete against a much larger flows of soybeans from larger-scale Brazilian producers. The strategic advantage of Brazil and China is that those large-scale Brazilian producers, export soybean to be directly

crushed in China by Chinese companies. China's state-owned agroindustrial business corporations, specially, have tried since 2007 to regain control of the soybean crushing industry from the ABCD's control (Oliveira, 2016:173).

The asymmetrical power these companies have over the global supply of soybean -though on a lesser degree, continues to hold a monopoly of the soybean market. The constant negotiations between the ABCD's, governments, producers, and consumers of soy, highlights the polemics in the global soybean landscape. (Peine,2013:196). Even though there are new actors emerging from South America and East Asia, the ABCD's established themselves and continue to sustain their market shares through vertical integration. The ABCD's continue use the same strategy employed in the 1990's post-Cold War period, but it is now used on a global scale in order to compete against the new actors. From purchasing, processing, and trading operations, and thus, controlling exponential volumes of the global soybean trade (Oliveira et al.,2016:173). This in turn enables them to continue to have advantages when resourcing from, and redirecting sales to, multiple markets around the world. In light of the continuation of the monopoly, companies from China, Japan, Singapore, South Korea, Argentina and Brazil have increasingly begin to challenge their dominance over the international agricultural trade (Clapp, 2016:8; Wilkinson, 2016:19).

Adding another layer on complexity to these power struggles, are China and Brazil's lack of infrastructure to crush and process soy, across both ends of the international trade. Therefore, the ABCD's have started to engage in bigger mergers and acquisitions in order to transform their commercial relationship with these countries, into new forms of international trading operations (Oliveira et al.,2016:173). In order to retain control by all means possible, the companies have adopted new business models. Rather than relying upon vertical integration within a single company, these companies are now recurring to new strategies to stablish strategic partnerships. Through shared advantaged information about the access to production and processing markets in Brazil and China. The 'asset-light' strategy, refers to a business model used by companies where the companies have fewer capital assets compared to its operations (*ibid*). Because the ABCD's power was decreasing, by concentrating their investments in the areas generating the most return from investments, this strategy ensured the access to the production and processing markets in Brazil and China.

For Brazil, the challenges posed by the ABCD's include their involvement in every stage of soybean production. For China, the implications of the monopoly are strategic and economic. For Chinese processors, feed companies, and pork consumer, soybeans coming from Brazil are cheaper than domestically grown soy (Peine, 2013:196). Therefore, they need transnationals soy traders. However, the growing dependence on imports in China, draws attention to the overwhelming emphasis the Chinese state gives to the self-sufficiency policy. As foreign interests continue to consolidate control further down the Chinese supply chain, the loss of sovereignty over the supply chain becomes increasingly problematic. The growing dependence on Brazilian soy and the Chinese implications may have driven Brazil and China to promote their South-South agenda within the WTO.

Adequate competition in the soybean industry, appears to have no simple answer since there is no single path to the processing and producing of agroindustrial commodities like soybeans. Power resources are used to form strategic alliances by the actors in this interdependence. Ones like the ABCD's seek to exercise their power by any means necessary and recur to multiple ways to do so. From vertical integration to more recent strategies like asset-light to use advantaged information in order to access processing markets in Brazil and China. These actions further prove how complex the interdependence is. Under conditions of interdependence actors risk to lose autonomy, as cooperation reduces autonomy (Keohane and Nye, 2012:8). However, these actors chose to interact with each other as the benefits of their relationship exceeds the cots for now. Which is why the question of whether there is adequate competition in the global soybean industry is difficult to answer. And the answer would be different depending who you ask. However, there does not seem to be one specific and determined strategy enabling the transition of the global soy industry from North to South, since under different political or economic frameworks, the terms and conditions of the soybean trajectory would be conditioned to the different context of the actors involved.

From the trajectories of soy in Brazil and China, it is evident that both countries equally benefit from the soybean transaction. Though in different respects. For Brazil, the pressure to produce soybean in large-scale capacities, draws attention to the level of power the TNC's have within the country, as they finance Brazilian soy production. Though the emergence of Brazilian

domestic soybean processing companies levels the plain field, the TNC's continue to hold great influence over the outcomes of the production of soy.

The recurrent pattern here is the high degree of interdependence of Brazil and China within nationally interdependent agricultural markets. From the perspective of TNC's, the two markets forming this commodity complex serves to maximize their gains because the same corporations that export soybeans from Brazil, also import them to their own crushing plants in China. This soybean-meat complex operates in very different political contexts, but in economic terms the national markets are not separate and interacting independently (Peine, 2013:200). It appears as though the Sino-Brazilian relationship is not as asymmetrical and beneficial towards China. It is mutually beneficial to both countries, but in different aspects. The markets are acting as successive stages of the global production chain that is still largely organized and operated by transnational corporations.

6. Conclusion

This thesis set out to investigate what characterizes the complex interdependence that has evolved in the soybean-meat complex. The concept of interdependence in world politics is used to characterize relationships presenting mutual effects among countries or among actors in different countries (Keohane and Nye, 2012:9). These effects are the result of international transactions across international borders. The effects of the Sino-Brazilian relationship resulted in a complex interdependence based on the integration of the Chinese pork sector and the Brazilian soybean sector. What intensifies the complex relationship is the Chinese demand for soybeans.

What characterizes the evolvement of the complex interdependence in the soybean-meat complex is the interactions and power relations of the actors involved within international trade. The soybean-meat complex includes the participation of Brazil, China, transnational corporations, and institutions. Traditional understanding of world politics dictate that states are the main actors within world politics. States are indeed powerful actors capable of exercising power through their economic and political resources. However, power measured in terms of resources, may look different than power measured in terms of influence over outcomes (Keohane and Nye, 2012:16). In this logic, transnational corporations should be understood as

the main actors within the soybean-meat complex because their influence goes beyond economic resources, as they are able to influence political procedures, and to some extent outcomes as well.

Whether and to what extent a corporate regime comes to dominate the international food system will depend on its political sustainability (McMichael, 2000:22). Their political influence upon institutions enables transnational corporations to have power over decision-making processes that affect the behavior of actors. The measures taken by the companies to ensure their participation in every step of the soybean global production chain indicates their wish to maximize gains by all means necessary. This include vertical integration within the soybean production and processing chain, the asset light strategy used to generate the most return from investments, and the retention of raw materials through contracts, mergers, storage and transportation (Oliveira et al.,2016:175). Indicating the length this companies are willing to go in order to achieve their goals.

An exclusive focus on economic capabilities of states would be unable to explain the power struggles within the WTO. In contrast to expectations of the imminent shift in power from US to China, it was actually Brazil the first developing country that challenged US interests, and as such emerged as a significant actor within the WTO (Hopewell, 2015:314). Rising powers have different sources of power that they are able to exercise it differently. As a result, they exercise different sources of influence. International interdependence tends to limit the abilities of states to manipulate asymmetrical interdependence (Keohane and Nye,2012:16). This may indicate that the 'small' state (in this case Brazil), may have greater domestic political unity than the large one. So, even though the more powerful state may appear to be less dependent, it may be more fragmented internally. Even with high levels of asymmetries causing conflict of interests, the Sino-Brazilian interdependence managed to reduce -though not completely, the US influence over the soybean market.

Complex interdependence draws attention to issues of asymmetry in an interdependent relationship regarding power distribution and who holds the most power in the relationship (Keohane and Nye, 2012:9). To assess such relations of power, the concepts of vulnerability and sensitivity were introduced. China appears to be the dominant state presenting less vulnerability to changes in the soybean-meat complex framework. This is based on China's economic

resources, the size of the Chinese economy and the position as global importer and importer (Hopewell, 2015:314). Brazil appears to be sensitive to the policy changes within the soybeanmeat complex because of the influence China has on the Brazilian agricultural market. However, upon closer examination Brazil and China are equally interdependent with one another. In the Chinese case, what characterizes the interdependence is China's long prioritization of food selfsufficiency. Because of this policy priority, the industrialization of pork production -through the importing of soybeans is becoming an increasingly important aspect of China's food security (Peine, 2013:206). Since Brazil has an export-oriented agenda, being able to supply the demand is their main goal, which is why Brazil promotes the liberalization of markets (Hopewell, 2013: 604). The soybean-meat complex has evolved, and the picture that emerges is one of high level of interdependence formed by interdependent national agricultural markets. The Brazilian and Chinese markets appear to be integrating into a commodity complex, since the same transnational corporations that export soybean from Brazil also import them to the same crushing plants in China. The soybean-meat complex seems to also be operating across different political and economic context. From an economic perspective the national markets of Brazil and China are not separate, but instead are interacting with one another in successive stages of production along the global soybean assembly line (Peine, 2013:200). Though this assembly line is still largely operated by transnational corporations.

The case of the Sino-Brazilian and the evolvement of the soybean-meat complex highlights the participation of different actors, regimes and institutions. Drawing attention to issues of competition with the global soybean sector. Whether there is adequate competition is directly related to the implications emerging from trade flow patterns in South, and the political alliances formed. The competitiveness of the sector is dependent on the conditions of the different actors. Whether the involvement of new powers like China and Brazilian in the global soybean industry will generate different market opportunities that might relief the dominance of transnational corporations, remains to be seen. But it is clear that Brazil and China are interested in the possibilities offered by the implementation of strategies and policies that decrease transnational corporations' influence. Because of the size and market dominance of transnational corporations they are able to control the market economies of states. As long as policy and production systems drive and mutually reinforce one another, the level of competition in the soybean industry is unlikely to improve.

6.1 Reference List

Notes:

- 1. For more information about verticalization integration https://www.investopedia.com/
- 2. For more information about synergies visit https://www.investopedia.com/
- 3. The term Washington Consensus. This definition was used in reference to the article by Peine, E. (2013). Trading on Pork and Beans: Agribusiness and the Construction of the Brazil China-Soy-Pork Commodity Complex. In H. James Jr., The Ethics and Economics of Agrifood Competition (20th ed., pp. 194-210). Columbia, MO.: Springer.
- 4. Soybean crushing refers to turning soybeans into meal and soybean oil through a process known as crushing. https://www.soyatech.com/

Altemani Oliveira, H. (2012). Brazil and China: from South-South cooperation to competition? In Jilberto & Hogenboom, Latin America Facing China: South-South Relations Beyond the Washington Consensus (pp. 33-54). New York: Berghahn Books.

Banco Central do Brasil. (2014). Retrieved from http://www.bcb.gov.br/ Accessed 18.06.2017

Bank, W. (2018). World Bank Open Data | Data. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/ Accessed 29.06.2017

Breslin, S. (2007). China and the global political economy. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Breslin, S. (2013). China and the South: Objectives, Actors and Interactions. Development And Change, 44(6), 1273-1294. https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12060 Accessed: 07.04.2018

Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (5th ed.). Oxford, UK: Oxford.

Bryman, A., & Burgess, B. (2002). Analyzing Qualitative Data. Hoboken: Taylor and Francis.

CEPAL (Comisión Económica y Política de Latino América). United Nations. (2011). La República Popular de China y America Latina y el Caribe: Hacia una nueva fase en el vínculo económico y comercial. Santiago. Retrieved from: https://www.cepal.org/es

Clapp, J. (2016). Food (2nd ed.). Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.

Clapp, J. (2016). Food security and International Trade: Unpacking disruptive narratives. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/3/a-i5160e.pdf Accessed: 07.06.2018

Clapp, J. (2017). The trade-ification of the food sustainability agenda. The Journal Of Peasant Studies, 44(2), 335-353. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2016.1250077 Accessed: 07.06.2018

Curado, M. (2015). China Rising. Latin American Perspectives, 42(6), 88-104. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0094582X15593756 Accessed:23.01.2018

Cypher, J. (2010). South America's Commodities Boom: Developmental Opportunity or Path Dependent Reversion? Canadian Journal Of Development Studies / Revue Canadienne D'études Du Développement, 30(3-4), 635-662. Accessed: 15.06.2018

https://doi.org/10.1080/02255189.2010.9669319

Dependency Theory: A Useful Tool for Analyzing Global Inequalities Today? (2018). Retrieved from https://www.e-ir.info/2016/11/23/dependency-theory-a-useful-tool-for-analyzing-globalinequalities-today/

Doctor, M. (2015). Brazil's Role in Institutions of Global Economic Governance: The WTO and G20. Global Society, 29(3), 286-300. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600826.2015.1025041

Dos Santos, T. (1970). The Structure of Dependence. The American Economic Review, 60(2), 231-236. accessed:24.02.2018

Doha Rounds. World Trade Organization - Global trade. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dda_e/dda_e.htm

Eisenhardt, K. (1989). Building Theories from Case Study Research. Academy Of Management Review, 14(4), 532-550. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4308385 Accessed: 20.05.2018

Escobar, A. (2005). El post-desarrollo como concepto y práctica social. In D. Mato, Políticas de Economía, ambiente y sociedad en tiempos de globalización (pp. 17-31). Caracas, Venezuela: Facultad de Ciencias Económicas y Sociales. Universidad Central de Venezuela.

Fernández Jilberto, A., & Hogenboom, B. (2012). Latin America facing China.

Firpo, S., & Pieri, R. (2017). Structural change, productivity growth, and trade policy in Brazil. In S. Margaret, D. Rodrik & C. Sepúlveda, In Structural change, fundamentals, and growth: A

framework and case studies. Chapter 7 (pp. Pp. 267-292). Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI): McMillan. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.2499/9780896292147_ch7 Accessed:07.06.2017

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2014). FAOSTAT (Food and Agriculture Organization Statistic Division) n.d. Rome: FAO: Crop production STAT calculators. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home

Gonzalez Garcia, J. (2003). China: Reforma Económica y Apertura Externa. Transformación, efectos y desafíos. México: El Colegio de México.

Gutiérrez, H. (2001). Las relaciones de China y America Latina: perspectivas desde Argentina, Brasil y Chile. Integración Y Comercio, 5(14), 75-116.

Hopewell, K. (2014). Different paths to power: The rise of Brazil, India and China at the World Trade Organization. Review Of International Political Economy, 22(2), 311-338. https://doi.org/10.1080/09692290.2014.927387 Accessed: 20.09.2017

Huang, J., & Chen, C. (1999). Trade Liberalization and China's Food Economy in the 21st Century: Implications to China's National Food Security. San Francisco, California: Center for Chinese Agricultural Policy. Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences and Scott Rozelle.

Huang, J., & Rozelle, S. (2002). The Nature and Distortions to Agricultural Incentives in China and Implications of WTO Accession. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.331781 Accessed:09.08.2018

Jenkins, R. (2012). China and Brazil: Economic Impacts of a Growing Relationship. Journal Of Current Chinese Affairs, 1. https://d-nb.info/1024415872/34 Accessed: 15.02.2018

Jiang, T. (2008). WTO accession and food security in China. In C. Chen & R. Duncan, Agriculture and Food Security in China. What Effect WTO Accession and Regional Trade Arrangements (pp. 183-202). ANU Press.

Jilberto, A., & Hogenboom, B. (2012). Latin America Facing China: South-South Relations Beyond the Washington Consensus (1st ed.). New York: Berghahn Books.

Keohane, R., & Nye, J. (2012). Power and interdependence. Glenview, IL: Pearson

Krasner, S. (1982). Structural causes and regime consequences: regimes as intervening variables. International Organization, 36(02), 185. Accessed: 07.01. 2019 Retrieved from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/international-organization/article/structural-causes-and-regime-consequences-regimes-as-intervening-variables/19A9938FE30759F777EA8EDC38BF1227

Las Naciones Unidas ONU. (2010). Estudio Económico en Latina America y el Caribe 20092010. Impácto distributivo de las políticas públicas. Naciones Unidas ONU. Retrieved from: https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/1070-estudio-economico-america-latina-caribe-20092010-impacto-distributivo-politicas

Lune, H., & Berg, B. (2014). Qualitative research methods for the social sciences (8th ed.). Harlow, England: Pearson.

M. McKay, B., Alonso-Fradejas, A., Brent, Z., Sauer, S., & Xu, Y. (2016). China and Latin America: towards a new consensus of resource control? Third World Thematics: A TWQ Journal, 1(5), 592-611https://doi.org/10.1080/23802014.2016.1344564 Accessed:17.06.2017

McMillan, M., & Rodrik, D. (2011). Globalization, Structural Change and Productivity. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

McMichael, P. (2000). Journal search results - Cite This For Me. *Agriculture And Human Values*, *17*(1), 21-33. Accessed: 26.01.2019 Retrieved from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A:1007684827140

Mesquita Moreira, M. (2007). Fear of China: Is There a Future for Manufacturing in Latin America? World Development, 35(3), 355-376. Accessed: 10.08.2018 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2006.11.001

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China. (2016). https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Peoples Republic of China. (2016). Latin America. Retrieved from https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/gjhdq_665435/3447_665449/

Nicula, A., & Nicula, A. (2015). *Development of transnational corporations in the world:* opportunities and challenges. Accessed. 25.01.2019

Nye, J. (1990). The Changing Nature of World Power. Political Science Quarterly, 105(2), 177. Accessed: 07.01.2019. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/i337625

Odell, J. (2001). Case Study Methods in International Political Economy. International Studies Perspectives, 2(2), 161-176. https://doi.org/10.1111/1528-3577.00047 Accessed: 19.09.2018

Oliveira, G. (2016). The geopolitics of Brazilian soybeans. The Journal Of Peasant Studies, 43(2), 348-372. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2014.992337 Accessed: 20.06.2018

Oliveira, G., & Schneider, M. (2016). The politics of flexing soybeans: China, Brazil and global agroindustrial restructuring. The Journal Of Peasant Studies, 43(1), 167-194. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2014.993625 Accessed:20.06.2018

Peine, E. (2013). Trading on Pork and Beans: Agribusiness and the Construction of the Brazil China-Soy-Pork Commodity Complex. In H. James Jr., The Ethics and Economics of Agrifood Competition (20th ed., pp. 194-210). Columbia, MO.: Springer.

Ricardo, D. (1931). The first six chapters of the principles of political economy and taxation of David Ricardo, 1817. New York: Macmillan.

Scott, J., & Wilkinson, R. (2015). China as a System preserving Power. In D. Lesage & T. Van de Graaf, Rising Power and Multilateral Institutions (1st ed., pp. 199-218). UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Soyatech. (2014). Retrieved from http://www.soyatech.com/soy_facts.htm

State Council of China. (1996). White paper: the Grain Issue in China.

Sutter, R. G. (2016). Chinese Foreign Policy Relations: Power and Policy since the Cold War (fourth edition ed.). Maryland, Forbes Boulevard, Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Strange, S. (1970). International Money Matters. International Affairs, 46(4), 737-743. https://www.jstor.org/stable/i324587

Svampa, M. (2012). Resource Extractivism and Alternatives: Latin American Perspectives on Development. Journal Für Entwicklungspolitik, 28(3), 43-73.

http://www.mattersburgerkreis.at/site/de/shop/jepartikel/shop.item/295.html

Accessed:10.06.2017

Sanitso, J. (2007). The Visible Hand of China in Latin America. Paris: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development: Secretaría de Comercio Exterior.

Warner, J. (2015). South-South cooperation: Brazilian soy diplomacy looking East? Food Security, 7(6), https://rdcu.be/7zQe

Weis, T. (2007). The global food economy: The battle for the future of farming. London: Zed Books.

Wilkinson, J., Wesz Junior, V., & Lopane, A. (2016). Brazil and China: the agribusiness connection in the Southern Cone context. Third World Thematics: A TWQ Journal, 1(5), 726745. https://doi.org/10.1080/23802014.2016.1259581

Wilkinson, R. (2014). What's wrong with the WTO and how to fix it. Hoboken: Wiley.

World Trade Organization. (2018). WTO | The Doha Round. Retrieved from https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dda_e/dda_e.htm

Yin, R. (1981). The Case Study Crisis: Some Answers. Administrative Science Quarterly, 26(1), 58. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/2392599.pdf Accessed: 18.09.2018

Yin, R. (1984). Case study research. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.

Zha, D., & Zhang, H. (2013). Food in China's international relations. The Pacific Review, 26(5), 455-479 https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2013.842308 Accessed:13.04.2018

Zhan, S. (2017). Riding on self-sufficiency: Grain policy and the rise of agrarian capital in China. Journal Of Rural Studies, 54, 151-161.

http://isiarticles.com/bundles/Article/pre/pdf/94184.pdf

